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Preface




THE 150TH ANNIVERSARY of the Battle of Waterloo would seem to be an appropriate time for the completion of a study of Napoleon’s generalship. Recent years have seen a number of notable additions to the truly vast literature inspired by the many-sided genius of this extraordinary soldierstatesman, but it is now more than sixty-three years since Count Yorck von Wartenburg wrote his famous two-volume study of Napoleon’s campaigns.I Since then there have been numerous military studies devoted to almost every one of those campaigns, and many aspects of the Emperor’s martial genius have been painstakingly analyzed. Among the many distinguished authors whose names spring to mind are Generals Camon and Colin, Colonel Vachée, F. L. Petre, Professor Spencer Wilkinson and Colonel Phipps; more recent writers include H. Lachouque, C. J. Herold and C. Manceron, to cite but a few, while special mention must also be made of the outstanding cartographical achievements of Brigadier General Esposito and Colonel Elting of the United States Military Academy, West Point. An imposing list of Napoleon’s biographers might similarly be compiled, but any attempt to mention even the most significant works inspired by Napoleon would cover many pages. Nevertheless, there is some justification for a modern reassessment of Napoleon’s campaigns, treated as a whole within the scope of a single work. With the notable exception of Commandant Lachouque’s recent study,II the modern trend has been for authors to specialize in particular campaigns or military aspects, and it is hoped that this more general study will prove of some interest to readers in Great Britain and the United States, if only as a “curtain raiser” to the more detailed and authoritative military studies now available.

It would require the work of a lifetime to do real justice to so vast a subject, and so much has already been written by such a galaxy of distinguished authors over the past 150 years that it may seem that there is little more that can be usefully added to Napoleonic literature. However, the discovery of a considerable number of new sources since the turn of the century has thrown more light on the period, leading in some cases to important reappraisals. For example, the Memoirs of General Caulaincourt, Duke of Vicenza, which first became available during the 1930s, have illuminated the fateful Russian campaign of 1812 and done much to reveal the character of Napoleon during the years of his decline and fall. Whenever possible such “new” material has been incorporated in the chapters that follow, together with the opinions of more recent scholars and soldiers. For the rest, it has mainly been a case of retelling the fascinating story of a great soldier’s rise to fame and subsequent fall, and of bringing Yorck von Wartenburg’s studies up to date in the light of modern scholarship and knowledge.

This book makes no pretense of providing a comprehensive study of Napoleon and his age. Many aspects of that colorful period receive no mention, and even the military side is incomplete in certain respects. From the start it was decided to restrict the study to a consideration of those campaigns commanded by Napoleon in person, and as a result most of the long war on the Iberian Peninsula has been ignored (except in its broad strategic aspects), and much that is relevant to the great naval struggle has similarly been omitted.

It proved impossible, however, to do justice to Napoleon’s showing as a commander without paying some attention to certain peripheral subjects. Space has accordingly been devoted to analyses of his military education and of the various methods he and his contemporaries applied in the field. It also proved necessary to include a summary of certain aspects of his constructive work as a French statesman—so as to present a contrast with his more destructive activities and at the same time account for the astonishing resilience of the French people and economy under the strain of a dozen years of continuous large-scale war. Similarly, a brief discussion of the machinations and stratagems behind the coup d’état of Brumaire has been included, for the critical events of November, 1799, throw no inconsiderable light onto Napoleon’s character—revealing most particularly his genius for opportunism in the exploitation of unexpected situations, a quality that he constantly applied in the military as well as the political sphere.

I would like to thank Brigadier P. Young, DSO, MC, MA, FSA (retd.), Reader in Military History at the Royal Military Academy, Sandhurst, for reading parts of the manuscript and making many useful suggestions besides lending illustrative material. Another colleague, Mr. A. Brett-James, kindly read the sections of the book relating to 1812 and lent me many memoirs and diaries from his private collection. I am also very grateful to the late Major General J. F. C. Fuller, CB, CBE, DSO (retd.), for giving me his invaluable opinion on the parts dealing with the campaigns of 1806, 1813 and 1815, and to Lieutenant Colonel D. W. V. P. O’Flaherty, DSO, R.A., for affording me the benefit of his extensive knowledge of the Battle of Waterloo; also to Major General H. Essame, CBE, DSO, MC (retd.), for the loan of his contemporary map of Russia. I also wish to thank my patient wife for her invaluable help with the indexing (and for tolerating a very distraught and preoccupied husband over the past four years). I am much indebted to my cousin, Miss P. Deans, and to Miss P. C. McGlinchy, for between them dealing so stoically with what sometimes must have seemed a very baffling manuscript. Lastly I must record a debt of gratitude to the publisher for making this volume possible and for providing encouragement, advice and help at every stage.

DAVID G. CHANDLER

The Royal Military Academy Sandhurst

Camberley

June 1965



I. Yorck von Wartenburg, Napoleon as a General (2 vols.; London: 1902).

II. Commandant H. Lachouque, Napoléon—Vingt ans de campagnes (Paris: 1963).



AUTHOR’S NOTE

FOR the convenience of readers who may find difficulty in recognizing the English equivalent of certain military ranks when these are given in French, here is an explanatory table:



	Maréchal*

	Field Marshal




	Général d’armée

	General




	Général de corps d’armée

	Lieutenant General




	Général de division

	Major General




	Général de brigade

	Brigadier General




	Colonel

	Colonel




	Lieutenant Colonel

	Lieutenant Colonel




	Commandant, Chef de bataillon

	Major




	Capitaine

	Captain




	Lieutenant

	Lieutenant




	Sous-Lieutenant, Ensigne, Cornette

	Second Lieutenant, Ensign (infantry), Cornet (cavalry)




	Aspirant

	Candidate Officer or Cadet




	Adjudant-chef, Adjudant-Sous-Officier

	Regimental Sergeant-Major, Warrant Officer, 1st Class




	Adjudant

	Company Sergeant-Major, Warrant Officer, 2nd Class




	Sergent-chef

	Staff Sergeant, First Sergeant




	Sergent, Maréchal-des-logis

	Sergeant, Corporal of Horse




	Caporal, Brigadier (cavalry and artillery)

	Corporal




	Soldat première classe

	Senior soldier




	Soldat

	Private





STAFF RANKS



	Major général, Général-en-chef

	Chief of Staff




	Adjudant général (Adjudant commandant after 1800)

	Staff Officer (First Class), a colonel or lieutenant colonel often serving as a corps or divisional chief of staff




	Adjudant Major

	Staff Officer (usually grade of Major)




	Officier d’état-major

	Staff Officer




	Chef de brigade

	Brigade-Major





* The title of “Marshal” was technically a dignity rather than a specific rank. The highest permanent rank in the French armies at this period was General of Division. Higher ranks and service appointments were held in only an acting capacity. See Nouveau Dictionaire Militaire, Paris, 1892.
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GENERAL INTRODUCTION


NAPOLEON—THE MAN AND THE GENERAL: QUALITIES AND DEFECTS

HISTORY is indeed an argument without end,” wrote Professor Geyl in his study of Napoleon.1 It is doubtful whether there has ever been a more stimulating and yet contentious historical subject; each one of the thousands of learned works devoted to Napoleon Bonaparte has painted a different impression of the man. Some, it is true, only vary in the degree of their interpretation, but no two have ever been identical. Consequently there is no denying that Napoleon remains to this day something of an enigma, both tantalizing and elusive—but at the same time he presents a most rewarding subject for study. So many were his interests, so all-embracing was his genius, so massive were his defects that he can be said to represent on a gigantic scale almost all the qualities and foibles of the human race. Herein lies no small part of his fascination.

Ever since the Battle of Waterloo Napoleon has attracted the unremitting attention of historians, memoir writers and simple gossips. Broadly speaking, these have fallen into two main categories—the worshipers and the detractors; Napoleon’s personality has rarely been treated completely objectively or impersonally—he just was not that sort of man. The consensus on Napoleon has swung like a pendulum from generation to generation. His own contemporaries remained uncertain in their judgments, their confusion owing not a little to the propaganda emanating from Longwood on the Island of St. Helena, but the generality of verdict may be summed up in the phrase used by the Earl of Clarendon of Oliver Cromwell: “A great, bad man.” The “ogre” image lingered well into the Victorian period. English mothers, for instance, reputedly chastened their recalcitrant offspring with the dire threat that “Boney will come and get you,” but such attitudes did not remain unchallenged for long. By the middle years of the nineteenth century, opinion was swinging the other way, and the legend of “The Man of Destiny,” the reincarnation of Charlemagne, the thwarted genius and tragic exile of St. Helena, began to gain ground, sedulously fostered by the ceaseless publication of diaries and memoirs written by aging Imperial soldiers and servants, whose recollections—however softened or expanded by the passage of time—served to pile ever more fuel on sacrificial fires placed before the altar of Napoleon. A few tempered their admiration with criticism, but most worshiped without question, and in France the regime of the great Napoleon’s nephew encouraged the spread of the cult to the very frontiers of irrationality.

After 1870, the worship took a rather different direction. Frenchmen sought to gloss over recent defeats by looking back to the great days of the First Empire, while soldiers of many nations undertook meticulous studies into the methods and campaigns of the great master of the art of war in the hope of discovering his secret. Only the machine guns and barbed wire of 1914 brought the generals back to modern reality. But in the first months of the war the French armies advanced to the attack—always the attack—wearing white gloves and with tricolors unfurled, deliberately trying to recapture the élan of the Napoleonic battlefield, while the famous Schlieffen Plan of Germany owed as much to the strategic conceptions of the Emperor’s Campaigns of 1805 and 1806 as it did to the more recent experiments of the Franco-Prussian War. The results of these attempts to re-create the methods of a century earlier were identical on both sides: horrifying casualties, inevitable loss of impetus and the eventual stalemate of the trench war which persisted for four long years. Seldom have the dangers of misapplying military history been more graphically demonstrated. Since Napoleon’s day, weapon technology—most particularly in the fields of artillery and small arms—had made such strides forward that the old methods no longer held much validity—a lesson which the more discerning might well have drawn from the later years of the U.S. Civil War and most certainly from the more limited experiences of 1870 in France, of 1900 in South Africa and of 1904 in Manchuria. Tragically, however, few had heeded the warnings, and an entire generation of European manhood, and not a few Americans, paid the price with their lives in the agonies of attrition which were the battles of the Somme, Ypres, Verdun, Chemin-des-Dames and St. Mihiel. It was found that courage alone did not provide an adequate answer to mud, wire and automatic weapons.

Not unnaturally, the revulsion to the horrors of war felt after 1918 tended to swing the pendulum of opinion concerning Napoleon back to the “man of blood” concept, the “Corsican ogre” school of thought; he tended to be regarded as the prime instigator of Armageddon. This trend has persisted almost to the present day, and since 1939 a new twist has been applied in likening Napoleon to that other “Corporal,” Adolf Hitler. Although since the late 1940s a more balanced view has emerged, many scholars still tend to regard Napoleon as at best a talented thug. Nevertheless, the appearance in recent years of numerous “glossy” volumes is tending to reestablish part of the old worship.

In this way the wheel has turned full cycle several times and will probably continue to do so for many generations to come, for the appeal—or revulsion—associated with Napoleon’s name is ageless. He was undoubtedly one of the most complex and gifted humans ever to grace—or bedevil—this planet.

Before turning to consider Napoleon’s qualities and faults as a soldier, it is necessary to attempt to answer one or two questions regarding the period and his character as a whole, for the basic traits of Napoleon the man inevitably affected the characteristics of Napoleon the soldier. First we must consider how far he owed his meteoric career to his own qualities and how much to contemporary circumstances. There can be no denying the greatness and sweep of his natural attainments; he probably would have gone far in any age, but he was exceptionally fortunate to be born when he was. To the end of his days, despite his growing tendency to believe in his own propaganda’s image of himself as semidivine, Napoleon acknowledged the part played by sheer good luck in his amazing career. He freely admitted to Las Cases that the French Revolution paved the way for the career ouverte aux talents and created the situation which he was ideally suited to exploit. He was fortunate to be twenty years old in 1789, at a time when all the ancient monarchies of Europe (save only Great Britain) were in decline. He was fortunate to have been born into the Corsican petite noblesse, for this fact eased his way in the earliest years and yet did not obstruct his rise to power after the overthrow of the Ancien Régime. He further claimed that his Corsican origin greatly assisted him in his first Italian campaign, when everything was very much in the balance for him as an unproved, newly promoted commander in chief of twenty-six. His marriage to Josephine also proved a godsend, for it brought him into contact with the middle-of-the-way royalist factions who later helped him along the road to the throne. He also described himself as fortunate in the size of his family, which enabled him to multiply his means of influence through marriage alliances and kingly appointments—though some might qualify this blessing, for the help his fratellos and sisters afforded him proved very much a two-edged sword. He was also fortunate that almost all his military opponents were in their sixties. Napoleon had a penchant for luck on the battlefield—although he would probably have strenuously denied so intangible a quality; he was adamant that a genius could give chance an almost mathematical place in his calculations. In general terms, however, we must aver that he was blessed with extraordinary good fortune—at least until late 1806. As the historian Hudson has written, “His powers were his own, but circumstances rendered them effective.”2

Next we must attempt to answer a difficult question: was Napoleon fundamentally a good or a bad man? It is very hard to say, for it is practically impossible to define absolute “goodness” or “badness” in a human being. Basically he was endowed with as many qualities and faults as any man, but the unique circumstances of his genius and opportunity increased the scope of these far beyond normal limits. He probably wielded more power than any other man in recorded history until his time, and in the end this probably corrupted him. From the beginning his realism was associated with a tendency toward fatalism. “All that is to happen is written down. Our hour is marked and we cannot prolong it a minute longer than fate has predestined.”3 This fatalistic attitude gradually coalesced with his belief in his being set apart from ordinary men—a belief that crystallized (or so Napoleon claimed) on the evening of the Battle of the Bridge of Lodi in 1796. In the end this belief in his “destiny” perverted his judgment, as we shall examine in more detail a little later, and led him to irrational obstinacy in the years of decline. He regarded formal religion as a force to be controlled, but personally subscribed to beliefs that can be termed deistic or even agnostic, rather than conventionally religious.

He was an affectionate husband and a proud father, and he was not wholly unmindful of the well-being of his servants (although he drove one and all mercilessly). This is not to deny his extra-marital adventures nor his callous attitude toward loss of life on the field of battle, but his hot Italian blood and his contrasting cold efficiency as a general explain if they do not justify both traits. He could be ruthless or magnaminous, kind or scathing, badtempered or charming—but he was consistently dynamic and left a lasting impression on everyone he met.

It is fascinating to speculate what kind of a ruler or soldier he would have made in the mid-twentieth century—perhaps a combination of General de Gaulle on the one hand and Douglas MacArthur on the other. As regards the viability of nuclear weapons, he would very probably have been a thorn in the flesh of the cautious: “It is a principle of war that when it is possible to make use of thunderbolts, they should be preferred to cannon.”4 But this is both to speculate and digress.

Thirdly, we must try to determine how far he was personally responsible for the series of devastating wars which will always be the first mental association conjured up by mention of his name. There can obviously be no denying that he was very much a man devoted to war. During the twenty-three-odd years of his active career, he fought no less than sixty battles. Hardly a recommendation for the reputation of a pacifist! It is calculated that between March 1804 and April 1815 practically two million native-born Frenchmen saw active service in his successive armies; there were no less than thirty-two levies on the various annual classes over the same period, and probably a further million men were procured from allied or satellite states. Estimates of casualties over the eleven years fluctuate enormously; some authorities place them as high as 1,750,000 (probably including the losses of his allies), others as comparatively “low” as 450,000 killed and incapacitatingly wounded. The only statistic that can be given with any reasonable certainty is the figure of 15,000 officer casualties.

Nevertheless these losses—immense though they are—should not be misrepresented. It must be remembered that the casualties, even if they total 1,500,000, were spread over eleven years and include all fronts, averaging out at 136,000 a year. This figure palls into relative insignificance beside, say, the casualty lists of the 1914–18 war, when the French lost 1,360,000 men on the Western Front alone (or an average of 340,000 a year)—and these figures do not take into account the heavy losses sustained by the British, Belgians and Americans. This is not to justify the Napoleonic Wars and the suffering they caused for one instant. Populations were far smaller for one thing, thus the proportion of casualties was heavier than appears at first sight; nor is there any denying the scale of losses suffered by France’s victims or opponents. Nevertheless, it is useful to keep the casualty question in proper perspective in any attempt to evaluate Napoleon’s responsibility as a war lord.

As for the degree of responsibility he must bear as the initiator of wars, this too is a very complex problem. Except in the cases of Portugal (1807), Spain (1808) and Russia (1812), in the first instance he was usually attacked. However, there can be no denying that many of these attacks were, in the last analysis, provoked by the Emperor for both military and propaganda reasons. In his defense it can be claimed that he lived in a very war-prone age and that there would almost certainly have been a long series of dire struggles whether he had seized the helm of France or not. The French Revolution, of which he was the product and in some ways the preserver, disseminator and liquidator at one and the same time, had already set the First Republic apart from the rest of Europe while Napoleon was still an unknown artillery lieutenant and colonel of volunteers. The social and economic upheavals that followed the act of political defiance in 1789 implied the end of the Ancien Régime, not only in France but throughout the Continent (although owing to Waterloo the final dissolution did not occur until after 1848 in the case of Germany and 1917 in the case of Russia). The concepts of Liberté, Egalité et Fraternité, the dictums of Rousseau and Diderot, implied a total upheaval of the old order and liberated immense energy and proselytizing zeal among the French people. Wars, then, were inevitable, and it can be as fairly argued that Napoleon was the victim of a war-prone generation as the “man of blood” responsible for the scale of the holocaust that gripped Europe for so many years. He himself realized this when he remarked at the time of the Peace of Amiens: “Between old monarchies and a young republic the spirit of hostility must always exist. In the present state of affairs every peace treaty means no more than a brief armistice; and I believe that my destiny will be to fight almost continuously.”5 It is possible that this realistic—and possibly slightly cynical—point of view led him to regard war as an inevitable evil and consequently to indulge in it with slightly less travail of conscience than might be considered desirable. But after 1791 France was ripe for an expansionist and ideological war, and it is very doubtful whether Napoleon could have withstood the flood of aggressive energy even had he so desired. To some extent, then, his fatalistic view was justifiable.

Of course, this acceptance of the likelihood of great wars did not prevent the crafty Corsican—possibly the most unscrupulous statesman since Machiavelli—from wringing every possible propaganda advantage from a sustained “peace” offensive in pursuit of his ambitious dreams. He was forever declaiming his peaceful intentions—almost all great scourges since Attila the Hun and Genghis Khan have spared no effort to create the image of peace-loving men of action regretfully resorting to arms in a just cause after all other means of persuasion have failed. And it is quite probable that he was genuine in his protestations—at least in his own eyes. However, he was always insistent that he must hand down peace from Olympus to grateful client-states; there was little preference for compromise in his Corsican nature, for all his superb opportunism on certain critical occasions. Consequently if Europe was to have peace it had to be a Pax Romana, dictated and supervised by the Emperor Napoleon. So self-confident and arrogant a claim could only still further exacerbate France’s relations with the other powers, which to the end of his days regarded Napoleon as a Corsican upstart of no breeding or taste, for all his dynamic genius; Great Britain, for example, referred to him as “General Bonaparte” in most official documents until long after his death. Thus, although wars were largely inevitable through the interaction of the snobbish suspicions of the old monarchies, the brash overconfidence of the new Republic (and later of the Consulate and Empire) and the even more fundamental colonial and commercial rivalries bedeviling Anglo-French relations, Napoleon must stand convicted of not playing the diplomatic game with the utmost of tact.

This lack of tact—the “golden quality” of statesmanship—was at least partially responsible for the frequency of the wars and certainly was one definite strand in the causation of Napoleon’s fall. He could never convert an ex-enemy into a convinced ally, however great his personal charm and magnetic appeal in têtes-à-tête with kings and emperors. Every ally was turned into an unhappy vassal, every defeated foe into a resentful satellite; Napoleon’s price for his favors was always high in terms of men, money and commercial policy. He scorned many of his fellow rulers and made little attempt to conceal the fact. He regarded every new treaty of alliance as an opportunity to procure more soldiers, more assistance in his “vendetta” struggle against “perfidious Albion”—the one opponent that never submitted to his will.

Napoleon, then, cannot be represented in any way as the “dove of peace.” The razor-sharp beak and talons of the eagle were most inadequately concealed beneath the assumed white plumage of sweet reasonableness. If Europe was to have peace, it had to be on France’s—or rather Napoleon’s—terms. And what appeared as peace to the Emperor smacked far too strongly of serfdom to the other powers. Moreover, once France had let the “genie” of nationalism out of the bottle, there was no way of controlling the consequences. The nationalistic enthusiasm of the French armies spread the gospel little by little throughout Germany and Italy, and although the forces of reaction managed to postpone their total eclipse for almost half a century, the spirit of nationalism burned on and in the end proved one of Napoleon’s doughtiest opponents. Military victory and dictated peaces no longer promised quiescence and subservience; the underground of the patriots worked on in Prussia and elsewhere toward the day when the French chains would be thrown off and the “Bully of Europe” brought low. And this is exactly what happened after 1812. The Empire proved to be built on wholly insecure foundations.

In the Emperor’s defense, it must be said that although he was at least partially responsible for liberating and disseminating ideas that could only lead to new conflicts, he never entered upon wars lightly. He always advocated a relatively humane type of warfare: he desired the short, sharp, conclusive campaign, never the long, drawn-out agony of attrition for attrition’s sake. But when this goal eluded him—as it generally did from December 1806 onwards—he could resort to an animal ferocity and ruthlessness that were also part of his Corsican inheritance. There were decided limitations to both his patience and his greatness.

*  *  *

We must now turn to a specific consideration of Napoleon as a soldier and commander. Much of what has already been mentioned is obviously relevant, but there are special characteristics that need mention and illustration. For convenience these remarks will be organized in two parts: a discussion of Napoleon’s military attributes at the time of his prime, followed by an analysis of their deterioration. The dividing line between the years of success and the years of gradual decline is difficult to draw with accuracy, but at least on the military side it is feasible to claim that Napoleon passed his peak in December 1806. Many general historians and biographers prefer to consider the Conference at Tilsit (1807) or even the meeting at Erfurt (1808) as the high water mark of the First Empire. However true this may be of political and constitutional primacy, there are good reasons for believing that Napoleon’s military decline began shortly after the double victory of Jena-Auerstadt.

In justification of this suggestion, the following points are relevant. Despite the apparent completeness of the military triumph over Prussia (no less than 70 per cent of her effective forces were either casualties or prisoners after the double victory and the succeeding weeks of ruthless pursuit), the simple fact is that Napoleon failed to gain the desired pacification (on his terms, of course) with the Prussian Government. As has already been mentioned, Napoleon always sought the quick knockout blow, the rapid and economic destruction of the foe’s will to resist. This patently failed to materialize after Jena-Auerstadt; however vacillating Frederick William III might be, the strong will of the Queen of Prussia remained as defiant as before, and consequently Napoleon was robbed of a conclusive success. This check to his plans had two effects of the greatest possible significance.

In the first place, it led immediately to the unforeseen and certainly undesired winter campaign of 1806–07 in Poland and East Prussia. This further involved a renewed direct confrontation with Tsar Alexander—a complication Napoleon had been anxious to avoid, hoping that a “blitzkrieg” onslaught on Prussia would lay that opponent utterly hors de combat and consequently dissuade Russia from entering a struggle which had already ended so patently in the French favor. In the event, these plans were frustrated. Another immediate consequence of the embroilment with Russia was the severe check suffered by the Grande Armée at Eylau in February 1807. Although the real outcome of this bitter battle was largely concealed by Imperial propaganda, the truth of the matter was known within Russia and soon spread to the patriot groups working against the French in Germany and Italy. Admittedly the outcome of the battle can be fairly represented only as a draw, but this should not lead to an underestimation of its contemporary significance; the point was that the supposedly infallible victor of Arcola, Rivoli, Marengo, Austerlitz and Jena had received a major military check. The news served as a tonic to Napoleon’s opponents, and his reputation suffered its first real blow, which neither the later triumph at Friedland nor the pageantry of Tilsit could completely eradicate. “The Ogre” had been proved fallible.

In the second place, some months before the murder that was Eylau, Napoleon had committed a cardinal error of grand strategy which ultimately proved fatal to his Empire. Thwarted of a conqueror’s peace after Jena-Auerstadt and blaming this apparently minor setback on “the nation of shopkeepers”, the Emperor had sought a way of striking back at Great Britain, which, since Trafalgar the previous year, had been able to defy Napoleon’s threats of direct military assault over the Channel with impunity. From 1803 onward—if not even earlier—Napoleon was obsessed by a desire to see Great Britain brought to terms. All the evils of life in imperial Europe were as a matter of course imputed to the combination of British gold, British intrigue and the Royal Navy. Even in the victory bulletin after Austerlitz, Napoleon had spoken in derogatory terms of the Tsar’s favorite aide-de-camp as “a youthful trumpeter of England.” Now, a year later, he turned his mind once more to the problem of cowing the British people. The outcome was the Berlin Decrees of December 1806. Realizing that direct military pressure was ruled out for the time being, Napoleon decided to strike at England through her life-giving trade. There was nothing very new in the idea of an economic blockade, but never before had so rigorous an exclusion of enemy goods, not only from the Empire but from the rest of Europe as well, been demanded.

As it turned out, however, the Continental System (as this declaration of all-out economic warfare became known) rebounded with a vengeance on the head of its creator. It had three dire consequences. First, it completely failed to cow Great Britain or even permanently impair her economic position. This was so because it was impossible to enforce the policy with complete efficiency and because the British command of the seas enabled her to channel her rejected goods to new markets over the Atlantic. Secondly, the British countermeasures, the Orders in Council of various dates, were far more effectively applied, and despite her natural resources and those she could wring out of her satellites and allies, the French economy eventually began to feel the pinch—certainly by 1812. Furthermore, much of the inconvenience and dislocation so caused was blamed on the Emperor by all Continental countries, while the increasingly rigid steps he felt compelled to adopt in order to see that his system was properly imposed left nothing but resentment and ill will in their train, weakening the foundations of the Empire with increasing effect; evasions of the system became widespread, and a thriving illicit trade between Great Britain and Holland, Italy and to a lesser extent Germany rapidly developed. Some of the Emperor’s most trusted servants openly connived at these evasions, including Louis, King of Holland (until he was forced to abdicate by Napoleon in 1810), Massena in Italy and Bourienne, Governor of Hamburg. Thirdly, and most detrimentally of all, his increasing obsession with the need to spread the Continental System and perfect its working played no insignificant part in inducing Napoleon to make his two cardinal errors of military and political judgment: the decision to invade Portugal and Spain in 1807–08 and the decision to attack Russia in 1812. All these difficulties stem from the steps taken in December 1806; this date, therefore, almost certainly forms the “hinge of fate” in the Napoleonic Wars.

Of course it is impossible to summarize all the characteristics that made Napoleon a great commander in so restricted a space as an Introduction; it will be possible only to touch upon the most obvious aspects of his genius, in the hope that a fuller picture of his abilities will emerge from the perusal of the chapters that follow.

First of all, there were certain personal traits—not necessarily purely military in their application—that made him so redoubtable a leader. High on any such list of attributes must come his personal magnetism. Napoleon possessed an almost hypnotic power over those contemporaries he met face to face. It was a combination of his iron will, his irresistible charm and the feeling of his visitors of being in the presence of a master among men. Physically he was unprepossessing—of small stature, crude and even vulgar habits, brutally outspoken on almost every occasion—and yet he could have any man or woman eating out of his hand if he so desired. The fascination of his large grey eyes (which so many contemporaries remarked upon—their all-seeing, all-knowing and yet almost expressionless appearance) was irresistible. Even the war-hardened veteran General Vandamme admitted his helplessness when confronted by the Emperor: “So it is that I, who fear neither God nor Devil, am ready to tremble like a child when I approach him.”6 This hypnotic fascination undoubtedly accounts in large measure for the mastery he exerted over soldiers of all grades. He was fully aware of this power of his personality and made deliberate and systematic use of it to get his way. He was prepared to go to great lengths to enslave a man if he felt the effort worthwhile. This was seldom necessary: one penetrating stare from those grey eyes was generally all that was needed to place a man in thrall. This power never deserted him; within days of boarding the British man-of-war for his journey to St. Helena, he had completely won over both officers and crew. Only one man proved wholly unsusceptible to the ci-devant Emperor’s charm—the Governor of St. Helena, Sir Hudson Lowe, an undistinguished soldier of unimaginative and oafish mien, who exasperated his fellow countrymen almost as much as he did his distinguished captive. There is no denying that the Emperor’s personal appeal was one of his greatest assets.

Second, we must ennumerate the almost unbelievable range and sheer power of Napoleon’s intellectual capabilities. In the words of one recent distinguished biographer, Octave Aubry, Napoleon possessed “the greatest personality of all time, superior to all other men of action by virtue of the range and clarity of his intelligence, his speed of decision, his unswerving determination, and his acute sense of reality, allied to the imagination on which great minds thrive.”7 Here was no narrow-minded professional soldier—his interests were legion. His mind was rarely at a loss for a new idea no matter what the subject, and he possessed to a very marked degree the ability of seeing every aspect of a problem without slipping into the danger of failing to “see the wood for the trees.” He studied every matter brought before him in breadth as well as depth. He could penetrate to the very heart of any matter and take into account every peripheral consideration at the same time. His grasp of detail was phenomenal, and in his prime he knew his army down to the last detail. His powers of concentration were daunting, yet he could switch from one avenue of thought to another at an instant’s notice without the least fogging of his incisive mind. He once described these mental faculties as follows: “Different subjects and different affairs are arranged in my head as in a cupboard. When I wish to interrupt one train of thought, I shut that drawer and open another. Do I wish to sleep? I simply close all the drawers and there I am—asleep.”8

Equally impressive were his powers of memory. According to the sometimes rather suspect evidence of Bourienne, Napoleon was better at remembering facts, localities and statistics than proper names, dates or words—but even if this was true it was purely a matter of degree. Two examples will illustrate his retentive mental powers. In September 1805 the Emperor and his staff came across a unit of the newly created Grande Armée that had become separated from its parent formation during the long approach-march from the Channel coast to the Rhine. Its commander had mislaid his orders and did not know where to find his division. While his staff officers busied themselves poring over maps and thumbing through countless notebooks and duplicate orders, Napoleon there and then, without reference to any book or any assistant, informed the astounded officer of the present location of his parent formation and where it would be on the next three nights, throwing in for good measure a detailed résumé of its strength and the military record of the divisional commander. At that time there were no less than seven corps d’armée, or 200,000 men, on the move; no more need be said. Again, in 1813, when his administrative departments were hard pressed to make good the loss of material suffered during the Russian Campaign, we find Napoleon writing a note to the Minister of War to the effect that he could remember seeing two cannon on the waterfront at Boulogne. In all probability it then had been all of eight years since the Emperor had last visited the port. He also appears to have had a photographic memory for statistics, and many an abashed secretary of state or senior official would be treated to a full résumé of the trade figures in, say, corn, for the past five years.

Similarly he had a knack for remembering the faces and records of individual soldiers. No doubt there was a tendency for “old sweats” to exaggerate the degree of recognition conferred upon them by the Emperor on some remote occasion in the distant past, but there is no need to query all the stories. One informant, Coignet, tells of the way the Emperor picked his face out of a crowd of soldiers after a review of the 14th of the Line in Place-St. Étienne in 1815 and promoted him to Quartermaster of the Palace and Baggage master of the Headquarters Staff in the very next breath. This was the kind of thing around which legends crystallized, but it undoubtedly served to maintain morale and inspire the rank and file to selfless exertions on behalf of le Tondu. It was another aspect of his magical appeal.

Napoleon possessed a phenomenal capacity for hard and unremitting toil. “Work is my element,” he once asserted. “I was born and made for work. I have recognized the limits of my eyesight and of my legs, but never the limits of my working power.”9 He remarked on another occasion that he worked at the table, at the opera, even in bed. An eighteen- or twenty-hour working day was not extraordinary for him. He read widely and voraciously. He worked his perspiring teams of secretaries and clerks almost to death. This great capacity for unremitting toil was one great secret of his success.

The strain of such heavy toil—and of the persistent movement that inevitably accompanied every campaign—was certainly immense. Nor was Napoleon’s physique as tough as it has sometimes been represented. We know from his valets that he certainly needed his sleep. He had the happy knack of being able to “catnap” at quiet moments of the day; even amid the din of Wagram, he stretched out on his bearskin rug for a short sleep, but he was also frequently ill—suffering from both piles and bladder trouble—and the health factor is not of inconsiderable importance in considering his showing on two critical occasions when he showed himself far from his best—namely at Borodino and Waterloo. His eating habits tended to be irregular when on campaign and this affected his digestion, but he never seems to have suffered from insomnia.

When necessary, he could work for days at a time without proper rest, although the toll was felt later. On one occasion he is known to have worked for three days and nights without resting. The factor that made such sustained efforts possible was his wealth of nervous energy. But inevitably, as has been well remarked, this made him a “man of nerves” as well as a “man of nerve.” Beneath the calm and apparently unmoved surface of his face, great passions lurked. These occasionally revealed themselves in fits of tearing rage and even hystero-epileptic attacks—both of which his intimates had good reason to fear. On occasions he would thrash servants and officers with the riding whip he habitually carried; he once kicked a minister in the stomach before calmly ringing the bell for servants to come and remove the writhing unfortunate from the floor, and he once seized poor, hardworking Berthier by the throat and hammered his head against a stone wall. Life in the Imperial entourage had its little moments! Normally, however, he retained strict control over his emotions, using them as instruments of his will.

His specific military talents were very imposing. It is not our present purpose to detail the ways he planned campaigns or conducted operations—that will be the subject of a later chapter10—but merely to analyze the qualities that lay behind them. One outstanding attribute was his sheer mastery of his profession. He once claimed that he knew how to make gunpowder, how to cast cannon and shot, how to construct carriages and limbers. This interest in the minutiae of military affairs was part of his quest for perfect thoroughness. He had his blind spots, however; he never took the trouble, for instance, to fully master the intricacies of naval warfare, and to the end of his career he failed to appreciate the influence of tides and winds on the conduct of war at sea. Similarly, it can be argued that he took too little interest in the tactical details of land fighting. At St. Helena he was adamant that a two-deep linear formation was the ideal, but he never compelled its adoption in his earlier campaigns. At Somo-Sierra (1808) he threw away the lives of a squadron of gallant Poles through a combination of pique and a lack of appreciation of what he was calling for. Quite rightly he left most tactical decisions to the men on the spot, but apart from his expressed preferment for the ordre mixte infantry formation, he paid relatively little attention to minor tactics. This should not, however, be confused with his skill at grand tactics—at which he was a past master of the greatest talent, at least on the majority of occasions.

The advice he offered Lauriston in 1804 is relevant to our survey. He enumerated three basic requirements for a successful general: concentration of force, activity and a firm resolve to perish gloriously. “They are the three principles of the military art that have disposed luck in my favor in all my operations. Death is nothing, but to live defeated is to die every day.”11 This was destined to be his own fate. However, a fourth principle might be added to the above three, as Colonel Vachée has suggested: “Surprise the enemy by strategy and secrecy, by the unexpectedness and rapidity of your operations.”12

Using his great mental powers, Napoleon was in the habit of thinking through any forthcoming military problem days, even months in advance. This concentrated thought process was no easy matter, and he once likened the effort involved in giving birth to a scheme to that of a woman bringing a child into the world. He invariably thought all around a possible problem, taking every foreseeable possibility into account and making allowance for every conceivable complication. He only genuinely improvised a solution on the spot on those rare occasions when his calculations were found to be incomplete.

Napoleon was positive that “a military leader must possess as much character as intellect—the base must equal the height.”13 He was liberally endowed with both essentials, as we have already discussed. He was also convinced that “a general’s principal talent consists in knowing the mentality of the soldier and in gaining his confidence.”14 At this, too, he was a past master. He knew the strengths and weaknesses of the French soldier to the last jot and tittle, from his “courage of an impatient sort” to his tendency to become dejected after failure. He mastered most of the psychological aspects of man-management.

Centralization of supreme authority was another sine qua non of Napoleon’s view of successful campaigning. “In war, men are nothing; one man is everything,” or again, “Better one bad general than two good ones.” The degree of centralization he achieved was fantastic. Almost every decision emanated from him alone, and his contemporaries marveled at how he could run a war and the Empire at the same time. While his armies remained of manageable proportions, this unique command method functioned extremely well; the French corps moved in a carefully coordinated pattern, the whole being directed by a single master intelligence. Later, however, the rigid desire for centralization became a snare and a delusion.

Finally we must speak of Napoleon’s genius—that utterly indefinable quality which enabled him to make the utmost use of the these great powers and gifts. “An infinite capacity for taking pains” was doubtless one facet of his daemon, but not the only one. Other characteristics incorporated in his genius were a fertile imagination (for adapting plans to particular situations), an intuitive sense (to divine the enemy’s intentions), indomitable will power (to get his way no matter what opposition he faced) and what General Camon terms “firmness of soul” (or his refusal to allow his main purpose to be diverted or blunted by the wear and tear of minor accidents and complications). Napoleon once tried to define “genius.” “Genius is sometimes only an instinct which is incapable of being perfected. In most cases the art of judging correctly is perfected only through observation (including study) and experience.”15

Behind everything else lay a boundless ambition, which provided the divine spark. “Ambition is the main driving force in man,” he once wrote. “A man expends his abilities as long as he hopes to rise; but when he has reached the highest summit he only asks for rest.”16 Where Napoleon was concerned, that ambition appears to have been insatiable. Therein lay the breeding ground of both achievement and disaster. For the rest, his unique ability was due to a combination of génie et métier, genius and professional competence, inspiration and sheer hard work.

*  *  *

Why, then, did he fail? Why is he known to history as simply “Napoleon” instead of “Napoleon the Great”? Once again there is no easy or simple answer. But after early 1807 there was something missing, something going wrong with this powerhouse of a man, most especially as regards his character. The wily Talleyrand was one of the first to notice the subtle change of atmosphere, and not wishing to be directly associated with the coming fall, he resigned the Ministry of Foreign Affairs shortly after the seemingly crowning triumph of Tilsit.

Many of the weaknesses that contributed to Napoleon’s decline and fall were born of the very qualities that had enabled him to rise. Every quality has its perversion, and the dividing line between genius and madness is notoriously slender.17 As time passed, delusion began to cloud his powers of judgment at critical moments; he began to believe what he wanted to believe, not what the facts, objectively analyzed, would suggest to be the truth. He began to gamble for increasingly high stakes, refusing to accept that Fortune had finally turned her face away. He refused to recognize what was feasible and what was not, relying on miracles to come to his rescue. As one Minister of the Empire described this sad trend, “It is strange that though Napoleon’s common sense amounted to genius, he never could see where the possible left off.”18 In this shortcoming lay the seeds of the disaster of 1812 and the ultimate downfall at Waterloo.

Stage by stage, Napoleon’s abilities began to atrophy or produce monstrous distortions. His passion for orderliness, efficiency and centralization of power degenerated into selfish egotism and grinding tyranny. The unscrupulous treatment of the Spanish Royal Family at Bayonne, the increasing orders for punitive expeditions to spread fear through the countryside, the rapid expansion of the apparat of police terror within the Empire, even the very ballooning expansion of the Empire’s physical boundaries—these were all signs of advanced megalomania. In the image of the ancient fable, the frog was trying to blow himself up to the size of an ox. One by one many of the old ideals became neglected and then scorned; the Emperor’s ambitions became increasingly restricted to the re-creation of the Empire of Charlemagne and the private aggrandizement of the Bonaparte family. The struggle with Great Britain took on all the irrational overtones of a Corsican vendetta: countries were either for Napoleon and subservient to his will or considered to be hostile; no neutral, uncommitted position was recognized. And all the time, the Emperor’s temporal powers received vast new accretions of authority as members of the family received vassal crowns.

If Lord Acton’s famous aphorism, “Power corrupts; absolute power corrupts absolutely” somewhat overstates Napoleon’s case, it nevertheless contains an element of truth. The most obvious results of the Emperor’s insatiable lust for power were twofold: a growing resentment among the ruled (at least outside France) at the ceaseless demands for men, munitions and specie; and a common growth of national sentiment among the conquered which Napoleon, the original disseminator, tended to discount as a real force to be reckoned with. Both were portents of difficulties to come.

Toward the end of the Empire, Napoleon became increasingly irrational and subject to delusion. Even in early 1814, when the cards were certainly on the table, he refused to admit the idea of defeat, and he consequently rejected, despite the remonstrations of Caulaincourt (as he had done in 1813), several chances of negotiated compromise settlements which would have left the French Empire (properly so-called) virtually intact. He believed that he could re-create the larger “Napoleonic” Empire, which in fact had already disappeared into limbo during the catastrophic months of 1813. Where Napoleon was concerned, it had to be all or nothing, and in that conviction he soldiered on against military odds often to one. While we must admire the sheer grit and determination of the man, we cannot applaud the irrationality that underlay his stubbornness. Once he had been the foremost realist of his age.

With delusion came a growing distrust of his subordinates. This was in evidence from the earliest days of the Marshalate. Consciously or unconsciously, Napoleon could never stomach the idea of a rival. That is why he never could get along with Moreau or (for long) with Tsar Alexander; even Desaix was probably fortunate in the hour of his death. Consequently, to guard against the danger of overly able subordinates, the Emperor deliberately deprived the marshals of the training in his methods that would have made independent commands feasible. He never instituted a staff college. To the end he retained all the reins of power, whether civil or military, within his own grasp. But what had been possible with moderately sized armies of 200,000 men in the halcyon days of 1805 or 1806 proved completely out of the question as his armies grew by rapid strides and a second front was added to further complicate the issue—and a Russian front at that! How could one man hope to control 600,000 troops spread over a distance of more than five hundred miles in the days before the radio? Yet that was exactly what Napoleon attempted to do—with well-known results.

This weakness of judgment, springing from his complete confidence in his own powers to overcome any obstacle, coincided with a certain deterioration in Napoleon’s physical condition from 1809 onward. Although this decline has often been exaggerated, there is little doubt that some of the old dash was lacking in his conduct of the Russian Campaign until the middle of the retreat in 1812, when he seems to have received a new lease on life. His conduct of the Campaign of 1813, if cruder than in the years of his prime, was on the whole effective until the very end, and his showing in 1814 has elicited the warmest admiration from many experts in the science of war. However, his own dictum that “one has a certain time for war” seems to have been all too truly borne out in his own case.

Surrounded by difficulties, he tended to blame his marshals. Granted, they were growing war-weary; Ney, for example, never recovered from the effects of the retreat of 1812. It is true that they proved largely incapable of dealing with unexpected emergencies, but who was to blame for that? Napoleon, not his key subordinates, whom he had deliberately starved of formal education in the higher realms of the art of war. For too long he had played the game of the ancient Caesars: Divide et Impera. This Machiavellian policy in turn rebounded on his head with a vengeance. “These people think they are indispensable,” grumbled the Emperor. “They don’t know I have a hundred divisional commanders who can take their places.”19 He took no steps, however, to reshape his command system. Of course some of the marshals were great soldiers in their own right—Massena and Davout among the best—but a system deliberately geared to complete reliance in and subservience to the Emperor’s personal command was clearly faulty.

Two further factors accompanied and contributed to Napoleon’s decline. First, there was the growing exhaustion of France, as resources of men and materiel rapidly dwindled as casualties mounted and the land area under Napoleon’s control progressively shrank. In any case, the increased reliance (from 1807 onward) on multinational armies was a sign of potential weakness, if only through the action of the language problem and the varying calibers and characteristics of the troops thus procured. Nevertheless, the showing made by les Marie-Louise and the people of Eastern France in 1814 was remarkable by any standard, though their opposition to the Allies was partly dictated by despair as well as by loyalty to their leader. The second factor was a rapid increase in the war-worthiness of Napoleon’s opponents. The old, greying generals of the first decade gave way to more dynamic leaders; after seeing their forces smashed into pieces by the marvelous war machine that was the Grande Armée in its prime, the Governments of Prussia, Austria and Russia had the sense to model their new armies after the French pattern. Similarly, the fires of nationalistic patriotism—originally kindled by France—now provided the spark that inspired the rank and file in the struggle against their former benefactor. One by one the French allies and satellites fell away—Bavaria, Saxony, Holland, the Kingdom of Westphalia, the Confederation, Naples and Belgium—and joined the cause of the Allies. And so the end came in 1814, and—after a last flicker that was the Hundred Days in 1815—a mighty figure passed forever from the stage of world history.

*  *  *

Since the 1940s it has been fashionable in some quarters to compare Napoleon with Hitler. Nothing could be more degrading to the former and more flattering to the latter. The comparison is odious. On the whole Napoleon was inspired (in the early years at least) by a noble dream, wholly dissimilar from Hitler’s vaunted but stillborn “New Order.” Napoleon left great and lasting testimonies to his genius—in codes of law and national identities which survive to the present day. Adolf Hitler left nothing but destruction. In certain superficial aspects, however, the careers of the two men bear resemblances. Both climbed to power through the use of opportunism in an unsettled period that favored the emergence of adventurers and dictators. Both possessed that magnetic appeal of personality that inspired their devotees. Both overthrew an older society, created new laws in an attempt to set up a new social order, challenged the position of the churches, resorted to police-state terror and atrocities to gain ends; both proved incapable of converting a conquered continent into a lasting Napoleonic Empire or a Thousand Year Reich. But there the resemblance abruptly ends. Even though it is difficult to form an objective view of Hitler in our own time, there can be no doubt that he was not cast in the same mold as Napoleon. Despite flashes of lucky intuition, Hitler was no soldier. Hitler’s most lasting perverted achievement for which he will be remembered to the end of history was genocide; Napoleon will always be regarded as a soldier of genius and the creator of modern Europe. The two most devastating “corporals” of modern history therefore have little in common. In the words of Octave Aubry: “This is his [Napoleon’s] distinction, and, if necessary, his excuse. When an achievement lasts so long and bears such fruit, it provides its own justification.”20
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PART ONE

Apprenticeship to Arms

NAPOLEON’S MILITARY EDUCATION AND FORMATIVE EXPERIENCES PRIOR TO 1796
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INTRODUCTION


FIRST EMERGENCE

CAPTAIN OF ARTILLERY Napoleone di Buonaparte (he habitually signed his name after the Italian fashion until 1796) was practically twenty-four years old before his name first attracted contemporary notice. His rise to public acclaim did not in the first instance stem from any notable feat of arms but rather from his ability as a political propagandist. It is distinctly unlikely that he would ever have received command of the guns at the siege of Toulon in September 1793 had he not first earned the commendation of Robespierre’s brother two months earlier for writing a pamphlet entitled Le Souper de Beaucaire.

This document takes the form of a dialogue between travelers staying at an inn. Two merchants from Marseilles try to convince their fellow guests—a soldier, a manufacturer from Montpellier and a citizen of Nimois—of the justice of their city’s revolt against the revolutionary government in Paris. The argument swings to and fro, but in the end the soldier wins the day by pointing out that the citizens of Marseilles, whatever their grievances, have no justification whatsoever for involving their country in civil strife at a time when a desperate war is in progress against foreign foes; any refusal of obedience to the Jacobin government was consequently tantamount to both treason and counterrevolution. In other words, Le Souper was a political tract directed against the inhabitants of the disaffected areas of the south of France and was intended to repudiate the arguments on which their extreme action was based.1

The circumstances in which this pamphlet came to be written were wholly fortuitous. In the hectic days following the pro-Bourbon revolt in southern France, Captain Buonaparte found himself incorporated into General Carteaux’s hastily collected army, and during a lull in the incompetently managed security operations he attempted to pass the weary hours by setting pen to paper. The result was not a particularly startling piece of literature, but by chance it exactly suited the mood of the hour and was soon brought to the attention of Buonaparte’s influential fellow Corsican, Saliceti, who was serving with Carteaux’s army as a member of the all-important commission of Députés-en-Mission—political commissars—appointed by a distrustful central government to supervise the efforts of the soldiers in the field. Saliceti was already a friend of several years’ standing, but his personal influence was relatively slight. However, one of his colleagues at this time was none other than Augustin Robespierre—brother of the “Dictator,” currently the dominating member of the Committee of Public Safety in Paris and thus de facto ruler of France. Saliceti lost no time in showing Le Souper de Beaucaire to Augustin and subsequently introduced its author. Then was forged one of those vital links that were to play so important a part in the emergence of Napoleon onto the stage of European history. The Jacobin tone and message of Le Souper were exactly in line with the current philosophy of the radical government which held that “might makes right,” and besides being impressed with this useful piece of party propaganda, the younger Robespierre soon fell under the magnetic personal spell of the ardent young Corsican soldier. From this time forward he was generally pleased to approve and forward to Paris all of Captain di Buonaparte’s recommendations, even when these clashed with the plans and policies of his nominal military superiors—which was often. In this way Buonaparte’s name first came to be known in high places; he was no longer simply an obscure expatriate artillery officer of lowly grade.

The Robespierrist connection was destined to survive only one short year—and in August 1794 Brigadier General Buonaparte would almost share in the downfall of his erstwhile patrons—but during those vital twelve months he managed to establish his reputation as a soldier of promise and set his foot on the first rung of the ladder leading to greatness. The favorable impression he made on the younger Robespierre is shown by a letter dated April 1794 in which Augustin describes the hero of Toulon to his brother as “of transcendent merit.”2


1

PREPARATION

Almost nine years of commissioned service already lay behind Citoyen-capitaine di Buonaparte when he penned Le Souper de Beaucaire. A great deal happened to the young Corsican during this considerable period of time, and many of his early experiences were destined to have important repercussions on his later career. Above all, most of his notions on the art of war and military affairs in general were formulated during this period, and it is important to study the early influences if we are to acquire any real insight into his future greatness and ultimate fall.

Napoleon was born on August 15, 1769, at Ajaccio in Corsica, the second surviving son of Carlo and Marie-Letizia Buonaparte. Many generations back the family was of Italian extraction,3 but by the 1760s the Buonapartes had found a patrician niche in Corsican life and had become regarded as an important and influential—if not very wealthy—pillar of local society. Several ancestors had played a part in the chaotic history of the island. His father was rather a restless and extravagant lawyer, with a penchant for poetry, constantly embarrassed for money and forever seeking social advancement, besides being closely associated with the rebel-patriot, Paoli. His mother was a natural beauty with a character of granite, who never forsook the simple ways of her upbringing and took good fortune and bad with the same calm detachment. To the very end of her life Madame Mère was a formidable and dignified figure of noble appearance, ruling her remarkable brood with a rod of iron. No member of the family was allowed to forget the respect due to the matriarch, no matter how exalted his position. A story is told (probably apocryphal) of how Napoleon held out his hand for his mother to kiss shortly after his coronation. One version states that the spritely old dame actually slapped his face; another (less probable) that she bit his hand. Whatever the truth of this tale, there is no doubt that Letizia was a power to be reckoned with and remained so to the very end of her life. She died aged eighty-six in 1836.

Childhood in Corsica could hardly have been lonely for the future Emperor of the French. The family eventually comprised eight children, besides a further five who died in infancy. Of the five surviving boys, four were in due course to wear crowns: Joseph, the eldest—rather a frivolous character who took up the duties of head of the family after their father’s death in 1785 and who always received a degree of deference from his younger brother—became first King of Naples (1806) and two years later King of Spain; Louis, the fifth born, was made King of Holland (1806); Jerome, the baby of the family, was crowned King of Westphalia in 1807; and, lastly, Napoleon himself, who for good measure combined in his person the Emperor of the French and King of Italy. Only Lucien, the child born next after Napoleon, never received a throne—but this was not through lack of opportunity or invitation. Of the three girls, one, Caroline, placed herself in line for a future crown as a Queen-consort when she married Joachim Murat, eventually crowned King of Naples in succession to Joseph. The other two, Elisa (whom Napoleon disliked for her bitter tongue) and Pauline (whom he adored), found dukes and generals for husbands.

Even if this grandeur and social importance still lay far ahead in the last quarter of the eighteenth century, the Buonaparte ménage in Ajaccio attracted guests of fair importance, perhaps the most significant of them being General de Marboeuf, French governor and military commander of Corsica and a family friend of long standing. Scurrilous gossip has suggested that he was Napoleon’s father, but there is no evidence whatsoever to support this theory. Nevertheless, de Marboeuf undoubtedly played an important part in Napoleon’s early life by being instrumental in gaining him a place at the school at Brienne in France. It took time to prove that the Buonapartes possessed the necessary four generations of nobility to qualify for entry, but eventually the young Napoleon was notified that a place awaited him. It is interesting to note that education at Brienne was free for most of the students, the state footing the bills, and that Napoleon thus received his first real schooling through the aegis of a kind of welfare state—albeit one wholly designed for aristocrats. However, local conditions in Corsica had not been particularly favorable so far as education was concerned. Napoleon had learned a little Bible history, and “Uncle Fesch” (later the supremely worldly cardinal) had taught the lad his alphabet. But this was hardly sufficient schooling for an aspirant to the Brienne Academy; and so at the age of nine Napoleon was sent for four months to attend the College at Autun with his elder brother, Joseph, for some intensive instruction in the French language—once again owing his entry to the good offices of de Marboeuf, who was the uncle of the current Bishop of Autun.

At the age of nine years Napoleon entered the Royal School of Brienne on April 23, 1779, and stayed there for five and a half years. The school was run on military lines by strict and austere Minim priests but was not specifically an officer-cadet school, although a proportion of the well-born young gentlemen did aspire—like Napoleon—to the King’s commission. Here he studied French, Latin, mathematics, history and geography. It cannot be said that his days at Brienne were particularly happy. Surrounded by polished and courtly sprigs of the French petite noblesse, the gawky and homespun di Buonaparte was socially out of his depth, and many were the fights and altercations he had with his classmates over his supposedly lowly origins, stumbling French and quaint Corsican accent. Even his teachers tended to mock him, and if it had not been for the solace afforded by the neighboring household of a certain hospitable Madame Lomenie and the cultivation of a small garden patch within the school grounds, La Paille-au-nez (as his comrades dubbed him in mockery of his name and peculiar accent) would have been unhappy indeed.

This isolation bred two particular qualities in Napoleon—a deep love of books and a fierce patriotic pride in Corsica—and encouraged a third—leadership. Of the subjects taught he best liked mathematics and history, and he spent countless hours reading every relevant book he could lay his hands on. His revulsion to the taunts of some of his school companions turned him in upon himself and led him to idolize Paoli, the hero of Corsican independence. He continually dreamed of the day when their joint homeland would be free from the yoke of the foreigner. This fixation was to remain with him until 1793 and was destined to play a detrimental as well as a formative part in his early development. Finally, the persecution he received from certain members of the staff gave the Corsican boy a certain degree of inverse popularity with his own year of students, and he was eventually accepted as their unofficial leader. He was constantly devising games based on the wars of antiquity and earned considerable local fame one hard winter by designing and building an elaborate series of fortifications out of snow, from which he and his gang sallied forth to inflict a definite and not altogether bloodless defeat on the senior term. His practical gifts were fast emerging during these schooldays.

Toward the end of his time at Brienne, Napoleon slowly began to stand out from among his fellows. Bourienne was one of the few friends he made there, and according to his future chief secretary’s not over-reliable Memoirs, “Father Patrauld, our mathematical professor, was much attached to Bonaparte and he had great reason to be proud of him as a pupil. The other professors, in whose classes he was not distinguished, took little notice of him.”4 Nevertheless, the royal inspector, M. de Keralio, wrote a generally favorable report in 1783 which provides us with a brief impression of him at this time: “M. de Bonaparte (Napoleon), born August 15, 1769. Height five feet three inches. Constitution: excellent health, docile expression, mild, straightforward, thoughtful. Conduct most satisfactory; has always been distinguished for his application in mathematics. He is fairly well acquainted with history and geography. He is weak in all accomplishments—drawing, dancing, music and the like. This boy would make an excellent sailor; deserves to be admitted to the school in Paris.”5 The recommendation for a naval career was never carried through, but it is tantalizing to surmise how good a sailor Napoleon might have made.

Passing through the final examinations at Brienne, he announced his choice of the artillery as the arm of the service he wished to join. It was a wise decision. Not only would the artillery service suit his mathematical talents; it was also the one part of the services (apart from the engineers) where talent as opposed to wealth and breeding could earn advancement. Much now depended on his obtaining a cadetship at the École Militaire in Paris—but in less than a month he received a favorable answer to his application, and on October 30, 1784, he arrived in the French capital. He was now a little over fifteen years old.

L’École Militaire was not at this time particularly distinguished for the attention it paid to the proper preparation of its young aspirants for commissions. Napoleon continued his studies of mathematics, geography and history and added to his attainments a fair knowledge of German, dancing, fencing and fortification, though it appears he did not take up the opportunity for riding instruction. He made a friend in one Des Mazis, and the time seems to have passed pleasantly enough at first. However, in the spring of 1785 his father died, and, besides being a bitter personal loss, this placed a great strain on the already stretched family finances. Joseph and Lucien both abandoned their studies in France and returned to Corsica to help their mother support their brothers and sisters, but Napoleon stayed on in Paris under conditions of real poverty. He read much, ate little and gradually acquired that lean and hungry look which stares out of a dozen portraits painted in the early years of his fame. Perhaps the school authorities deliberately shortened his course to allow him to alleviate his utter destitution with the princely pay of four dollars forty-five a week (1,120 livres a year), which would be his entitlement as a newly commissioned sous-lieutenant. In any case, in August 1785 Buonaparte was put up for examination and passed out forty-second—a place of little distinction, though it proved higher than that of his friend Des Mazis, who was fifty-sixth. In due course both young men received orders to report to the La Fère Artillery Regiment, presently stationed at Valence, and accordingly they quitted Paris on October 31, reporting for duty at their unit on the 5th November. It is interesting to note that they finished the journey on foot after enjoying a costly if entertaining dissipation at Lyons; newly commissioned officers are the same the world over, heedless of generation.

The French army was not at the peak of its efficiency in the years immediately preceding the Revolution, although there was a leavening of talent and significant new ideas in the process of formation amid the dust of decay. A military career was not, however, regarded as the most promising one available—certainly not for the rank and file—and every regiment found difficulty in maintaining its recruiting figures. The Régiment de la Fère was no exception to this, and according to the great historian Sloane, Napoleon’s original unit was reduced to putting up advertisements appealing for volunteers in the following terms: “Dancing three times a week, rackets twice, and the rest of the time skittles, prisoner’s base and drill. Pleasures reign, every man has the highest pay and all are well treated.”6

Similar blandishments appear on recruiting posters down to the present day, but at least reality has moved a little closer to the printed word in the 180 years since 1785. A young officer without private means or important friends faced a bleak enough prospect: 720 livres of his pay were deducted for board and lodging and this left little over seven dollars a month for everything else—including, in Buonaparte’s case, sending a little financial aid to his mother and family. Nor were promotion prospects exactly alluring. He could expect to serve fifteen years as a lieutenant, as many more as a captain, if he was lucky secure a majority at the end of his service, and then retire in his early fifties with a decoration and the penury of half pay for the rest of his life.

Nevertheless, Buonaparte threw himself with enthusiasm into the task of learning his new duties. At the time the sensible procedure in the French artillery was to make all newly joined subalterns undergo a three-month probationary period of basic training. Part of this was served as an ordinary gunner, learning the profession from the bottom; part was spent as an acting noncommissioned officer. This experience was very important. He learned how to talk to the men in the ranks and to appreciate the matters they considered to be of importance. Throughout the halcyon days of the Consulate and Empire, and right to the end of his career, Napoleon never lost “the common touch”; he was always able to make himself the idol of the rank and file when he felt so disposed. Part of this knack of man-management was learned in the early months at Valence, as di Buonaparte went through the mill with the rest. But at length the chrysallis period came to an end, and on January 10, 1786, he received the confirmation of his commission.

In all, nine months were spent at Valence. It was generally a pleasant, if impecunious, time. The idea that Lieutenant di Buonaparte was a solitary, withdrawn character is erroneous. There is evidence that he entered fully into the social life of the garrison town, such as it was, taking dancing lessons, attending balls and routs with a fair degree of gusto. If he saw comparatively little of his brother officers at this time, this was due to the fact that they all habitually scattered in pursuit of their various pleasures. However, there are indications that homesickness for Corsica—still very much his spiritual home—caused him to go through a period of acute melancholy. Peacetime garrison life held little excitement for the serious-minded young officer, but in August 1786 he was sent with his company to help quell a local disturbance at Lyons occasioned by an unpopular wine tax. Then his regiment was ordered to quit Valence and march to Douai (in the normal course of unit rotation), and from October 1786 to February 1787 di Buonaparte continued his professional and private studies under the darker northern skies.

Then at last the appointed time for his first leave came around. On February 1, 1787, he set out for Corsica, and after a quick journey by way of Marseilles he at last set foot in Ajaccio again after an absence of over eight years. Much of his furlough was spent in trying to sort out his family affairs, but in between visits to lawyers and notaries he continued his reading and began to collect material for a projected history of Corsica. In April, with the end of his leave looming in sight, he wrote to Marshal the Duc de Ségur, Minister of War, begging for an extension of his leave “for five and a half months to date from 16th May next which he needs for the recovery of his health, in accordance with the enclosed certificate of the doctor and surgeon.”7 He went on to suggest that this extra leave should be granted on full pay (!), and in due course an easygoing military administration approved his request. It is uncertain whether our hero was “swinging the lead” and pleading ill health as an excuse to escape from the dull routine of regimental peacetime duty, but he was certainly recovered enough to be able to travel to Paris in November on family business. There he again had the audacity to solicit a further extension of leave—and almost unbelievably was granted a further six months on compassionate grounds. Indeed, the family problems were pressing—but it is indicative of the slackness of the last days of the army of l’Ancien Régime that such long periods of absence were permitted. Basking in the sun of Corsica, our absentee lieutenant started to write his History of Corsica.

At length, in early June 1788, there was no excuse for any further postponement of his return to military duties, and accordingly di Buonaparte traveled to Auxonne to rejoin his regiment. There followed the most formative fifteen months of his military career. At this time Auxonne was the best artillery training school in France, under the command of the experienced Baron du Teil, whose reputation as a great lover did not prevent him from being a great artilleryist at one and the same time. Under the paternal supervision of the old soldier, di Buonaparte’s studies took on a new meaning and depth; besides a fragment of an unfinished novel, thirty-six manuscript notebooks in his precise handwriting have survived from this period, three of them relating to artillery matters, the rest to subjects of history and philosophy. Du Teil’s beneficent influence was supplemented by that of the Professor of Mathematics, Lombard, and between them these two men exercised a profound influence on the impressionable young Corsican. Di Buonaparte was soon singled out for special tasks. In August he was appointed commander of the Demonstration Company with responsibility for trying out experiments suggested by his superiors, who were busy trying to devise ways of firing mortar shells from ordinary cannon. This somewhat hazardous occupation had its compensations, for it brought Napoleon into contact with the best gunner brains of the day. Lombard was assisted by a board of experienced officers, including a brigadier, several captains and three first lieutenants. So engrossed did the young officer become in the practical problem under consideration that he wrote a special memoir on the subject to the Baron in March 1789. It is indicative of the helpful attitude of the old gentleman that he encouraged such efforts from lowly subalterns.

During this period Napoleon also took part in his first tactical exercises without troops. Du Teil was in the habit of taking his officers out into the countryside, dividing them into teams for the defense and the attack of a certain selected village or hill, and then setting them loose to devise individual solutions which were afterward discussed and compared. This practical and theoretical experience in handling tactical situations stood di Buonaparte in good stead and complemented his voracious reading of the works of Guibert and du Teil’s brother and the many more sources of military lore drawn from the well-stocked shelves of the library. During these months he almost certainly devised the first outlines of the strategical and tactical concepts which were to form the basis of the great campaigns and battles of future years.I

Also proceeding apace at this time was his gradual spiritual and moral acclimatization to France as a whole and to French service life in particular. Di Buonaparte was still first and foremost an ardent Corsican nationalist, but he was slowly losing the bitterness against all things French learned at Brienne. He viewed with intense interest the dramatic political events proceeding at Paris and Versailles—where the embryonic Revolution had commenced with the meeting of the États Général in May 1789.

There was also a darker side to life at Auxonne; the affairs of his family continued to be bad, and consequently Lieutenant di Buonaparte’s frugal pay had to go a long way. His health almost broke down under the enforced penury of his life, but he eventually recovered from a long illness that laid him low throughout the last months of 1788. Writing to his mother early in 1789, he revealed the extent of the poverty under which he was laboring: “I have no other resource but work. I dress but once in eight days; I sleep but little since my illness; it is incredible; I retire at ten [to save candles] and rise at four in the morning. I take but one meal a day, at three; that is good for my health.”8

It was not, however, the ideal regimen for a youthful convalescent. On August 8, 1789, he accordingly applied for six months’ furlough; this was his entitlement under the regulations, but he wished it to start at once and not in October when it became due. He pleaded the difficulties of a winter sea passage in justification, but really he was determined to share in the revolutionary ferment that had recently broken out in his beloved Corsica. As usual, his request received favorable attention, and on September 16 he left Auxonne for Corsica.

Once returned to the land of his birth, it was not long before di Buonaparte was in the thick of the local revolution. Within four weeks he was an accepted revolutionary leader and he promptly sent off an appeal to the French National Assembly for aid; a week later he was in Bastia, organizing an attack on the arsenal there in search for arms. Then the National Assembly formally pronounced that Corsica was part of the new France, and requested the veteran patriot Paoli—Napoleon’s hero—to head the new local government. Our Corsican was ecstatic, but his hopes of preferment received an abrupt douche of cold water when Paoli, newly returned from exile, made a point of ignoring the young fanatic.

In the new year of 1791, after merely sixteen months’ leave, Napoleon returned somewhat disconsolately to regimental duty at Auxonne—posted to the Régiment de Grenoble—but this spell of service was destined to be even more short-lived than its predecessors. On August 4, 1791, the National Assembly, at a loss for reliable troops, authorized the raising of volunteer battalions in each Department (the eighty-three new administrative districts which had replaced the old provinces); in conformity with the revolutionary principle of égalité, all officers in these units were to be elected by the rank and file with the sole exception of the adjutant major who was to be appointed by the general officer commanding the local military district. Furthermore, the Assembly decreed that serving officers could hold posts in the féderé battalions without forfeiting their seniority and rank in the regular army. This was a golden chance for some promotion, and newly appointed First Lieutenant BuonaparteII lost no time in sending in a request for transfer to Corsica. It came as a rude shock to him when his application was refused (perhaps the authorities considered that he had been sufficiently absent from regular duty of late; indeed, over the six years of his commissioned service, no less than thirty-two months had been spent on leave of one sort or another). However, it was not Napoleon’s way to be daunted by a single setback. He promptly made his way to visit his old commanding officer, du Teil (now Inspector General of Artillery at Grenoble), and after spending, a pleasant few days at the latter’s estate at Pommiers, he returned triumphantly with the required permission for three months’ absence on full pay.

Back in Corsica for the third time (September 6), he soon managed to secure the post of adjutant major in the Ajaccio Volunteer Battalion. But then, with typical political inconsistency, the National Assembly decreed that officers serving with volunteer battalions must forfeit their regular rank—although the posts of commanding officer and second-in-command of each unit (both carrying the rank of lieutenant colonel) were permitted to be filled by serving regular officers without detriment to their careers, providing they were freely elected to these positions. This forced Napoleon’s hand; he was determined to remain both a regular lieutenant of artillery and an officer of Corsican volunteers, and so he set out to secure the requisite election as second-in-command of the Ajaccio Volunteers. His election campaign was carried out with a cunning and unscrupulous thoroughness which surprised and shocked his family, but it had the desired effect. On April 1, 1792, he was elected lieutenant colonel of volunteers: no mean promotion for a humble first lieutenant aged only twenty-two!

He at once busied himself drawing up a set of Standing Orders for the Corsican National Guard,9 and this, his first administrative paper, is admirable in its clarity and thoroughness. However, the incalculable sway of the Revolutionary pendulum which had so far generally benefited our Corsican, suddenly swung against him. There were riots in Ajaccio, and Buonaparte was involved in their suppression. Perhaps he acted a trifle too keenly, for his activities earned him the displeasure of Paoli; at the height of the operation, the brash lieutenant colonel had made free and unauthorized use of the supreme patriot’s name to get his way. Acts of ill fortune seldom come singly; if he was unpopular on the Corsican scene, he was soon out of favor in France as well. A sudden compulsory muster of officers was ordered at Valence, and those who failed to attend on April 1—including Buonaparte—were immediately struck off the regimental roll. This was too much for Napoleon. Without delay he made his way to Paris in order to challenge the decision.

He returned to the French capital at a critical time. In Paris he remet his school friend Bourienne, and together they followed the activities of the Paris mob. The Revolution was fast getting out of hand as trust in Louis XVI’s good intentions evaporated. Buonaparte was a witness of the march on the Tuileries Palace of June 20, occasioned by the King’s dismissal of the Brissotin government. According to Bourienne, Buonaparte was both furious and indignant at the poor showing of resistance by the Royal Guards. “What madness!” he exclaimed loudly. “How could they allow that rabble to enter? Why do they not sweep away four or five hundred of them with the cannon? Then the rest would take themselves off very quickly.”10 Shades of Vendémiaire and “the whiff of grapeshot”!

A little under two months later he also witnessed the full-scale storming of the Tuileries and ensuing massacre of the Swiss Guard by the mob, and this tragedy increased his contempt for popular violence and weakly led regular troops. In the following weeks he was a disgusted witness of the September massacres as the mob and the Assembly panicked at the steady approach of the Austrian and Prussian forces. Despite all the chaos he eventually left Paris with the confirmed ranks of regular captain of artillery and lieutenant colonel of volunteers (September 17). It clearly paid to be active in one’s own interests during unsettled times.

Traveling by way of Toulon, he reached Corsica once more on October 15. He found an even more ominous situation than when he had left. Paoli was fast tiring of every aspect of the French connection, and a state of cold war with the French Assembly was already in existence. It is revealing that this development did not find approval with Napoleon, once the most ardent exponent of exclusive Corsican nationalism; the processes of French acclimatization were now clearly almost complete. Not surprisingly perhaps, Paoli received the returned colonel of volunteers coldly, and set out to sabotage his attempts to serve as an effective second in command to Colonel Quenza of the Ajaccio Volunteers. This was frustrating enough, but the months that followed were to prove even more irksome.



I. See Part Three for an analysis of these concepts.

II. About this time he dropped the aristocratic prefix “di” from his name, no doubt in deference to the equalitarian preoccupations of the government.
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TOULON

At this stage in Napoleon’s early career we pass from the period of theoretical preparation (consisting as we have seen of study, a little regimental duty, rather more revolutionary activity, and ceaseless intrigue for leave or further promotion) to the period of real military experience.

Buonaparte’s first experience of active service took place in the early months of 1793—and proved a complete fiasco though through no fault of his own. Sardinia was now the declared enemy of France, and the French Government ordered Paoli to mount a sea-borne attack from Corsica against the town of Cagliari at the southern extremity of the island. This instruction did not please Paoli, and he set himself the task of obstructing the projected operation by every means in his power. However, the arrival of a mob of indisciplined troops from Marseilles destined to share in the expedition soon changed his mind. These soldiers caused so much havoc locally that it seemed to everybody that the sooner they were on their way to Sardinia the better for Corsica. And so, early in 1793, the expedition set sail for Cagliari, where, needless to relate, it met with a bloody and thoroughly deserved repulse.

Meanwhile, to cover this main attack, a secondary expedition—consisting of 150 regular soldiers, 450 volunteers of Quenza’s battalion and four guns, conveyed in sixteen small vessels escorted by a single corvette—was sent on a diversionary raid against La Maddalena at the opposite end of Sardinia. This force was under the overall command of Colonel Colonna-Cesari (Paoli’s nephew), and Buonaparte served as a member of the expedition. It got off to a bad start by running straight into a heavy gale which forced the shipping to return to harbor, but at last on February 22 the expedition sighted its objective and anchored off the western end of the channel between La Maddalena and the neighboring island of Santo Stefano. After immense confusion, the troops swarmed ashore onto the latter on February 23, and by nightfall they had succeeded in capturing a small fort, while Lieutenant Colonel Buonaparte, reverting to his true role as a gunner, set to work to establish a small battery of two cannon and a single mortar within range of La Maddalena.

Throughout the 24th a steady, if not very heavy, bombardment was maintained against the town, and Colonna-Cesari decreed there should be a full-scale assault on the morrow. In the event, however, this never materialized. In the musical-comedy atmosphere which permeated the entire undertaking against Sardinia, the French crew of the naval corvette mutinied overnight—or so Colonna-Cesari later asserted—and insisted on sailing off with the protesting expedition commander and his headquarters staff for Ajaccio. Before weighing anchor, however, the sailors thoughtfully permitted the Colonel to send a message ashore to Colonel Quenza ordering the abandonment of all operations and the re-embarkation of the troops.

Quenza spent the whole day of the 25 th busily re-embarking the men, but nobody thought to inform Lieutenant Colonel Buonaparte and his isolated battery of three guns of what was afoot. Accordingly it was only late in the evening that he learned of the proceeding evacuation, by which time most of the expedition was snugly on board ship and on its way back to Corsica. This left Buonaparte in a considerable quandary and no little danger, but with typical grit and determination he compelled his sweating and swearing gunners to manhandle their pieces across the island to the embarkation place. This gallant attempt to save his guns was all to no avail, however; for by the time they reached the beach there were insufficient ships to take the cannon, while the emboldened Sardinian garrison of La Maddalena was showing distinct signs of life. And so Buonaparte was forced to spike and abandon the guns he had done so much to preserve.

Not surprisingly, when Buonaparte again set foot on Corsican soil late on February 26, he was in a towering rage. He made no secret of his belief that Colonna-Cesari’s explanation of events was a fabrication and that the commander of the expedition had been acting on Paoli’s secret instructions with a view to deliberately wrecking the attack. He lost no time in communicating these forthright views to the Convention in Paris—an act that hardly endeared him to the Paolist party. Clearly Buonaparte’s ties with his former hero were becoming more and more fragile, but at least he learned from the abortive operation the practical difficulties of disembarking troops on a hostile shore and the problems of a shared interservice command. These lessons were to remain engraved on his memory for life, and it is quite possible that his unfortunate memories of La Maddalena reinforced his decision to call off the invasion of England in July 1805.

Very soon relations between Paoli and the French government reached the breaking point. On February 5 the Convention dispatched three special Commissioners to investigate the situation in Corsica. Pleading old age and infirmity, Paoli craftily evaded meeting these representatives of a government he now regarded as wholly alien and withdrew instead to a mountain fastness accompanied by his henchmen. After two months of fruitless attempts to get in direct touch with Paoli, the Commissioners, including the Corsican Saliceti, reached the town of San Fiorenzo where new attempts to open negotiation were made. Throughout this period Buonaparte was wholly identified with the Convention’s Commission, and in due course he was entrusted with the task of making a military survey of the ports of Corsica. So things stood until another member of the Buonaparte family took a hand in affairs. Lucien, from the comparative safety of Toulon, saw fit to make a public denunciation of Paoli as a counterrevolutionary in a forthright speech at the Republican Club. This rash statement had two immediate effects. In the first place it forced Paoli to clarify his position vis-à-vis the French connection once and for all, and not surprisingly he came down on the side of Corsican independence. Secondly, it made it impossible for the Buonaparte family to remain living on the island. A serious revolt sprang up in a very few days: French officials were attacked in the open, and Captain Buonaparte had several close shaves in brushes with patriots during the month of May. It was made abundantly clear that he and his family were personae non gratae to the Paolist party, and after a dangerous journey from Ajaccio to Calvi, whence he embarked with his mother and younger brothers and sisters on June 10, 1793, Napoleon at length landed with his family and their personal effects at Toulon. Shortly afterward they were all settled at the village of Levalette near Marseilles.

It was a major turning-point in Napoleon’s life; he was finally severing all ties with the land of his birth (soon to be delivered into British hands by Paoli), which had taken so prominent a place in his thoughts from earliest youth and so large a share of his energies as a young man. Henceforward, all his ambitions and dreams were to be centered on France and her armies. To date Corsica had been something of a distraction for his talents, but now there was no further question of his energies being dissipated in an unfruitful direction. He was to return only once more to the land of his birth, and then not by choice: returning from Egypt in October 1799, he was stormbound for a week in Corsica.

Once he had seen his family settled into their new home, Buonaparte returned to his unit (now renamed the 4th Artillery Regiment in compliance with the dictates of the Convention which disliked the old ci-devant titles). At the same time he sent off his report on the ports of Corsica to the Convention. This document is of importance for two reasons. Firstly, it stressed the advantage that the French Government could derive from the establishment of a large naval base on the island to command the western Mediterranean. San Fiorenzo, being the nearest port geographically to Toulon, was the suggested site. Although this proposal was never taken up, it demonstrates Buonaparte’s grasp of at least some of the principles of maritime strategy, for Nelson came to exactly the same conclusions a year or two later. Secondly, in a separate paper adjoined to the report, he suggested a scheme for the defense of Ajaccio against enemy attack from the sea. The harbor of Ajaccio comprises two anchorages (see inset on Map 1); the outer of these consists of a deep-water bay some 2,200 yards across at its mouth, with a pronounced promontory on each side, the western being dominated by the town and citadel of Ajaccio, the eastern by Monte Aspreto; further in was the smaller and shallower Port del Campo dell’Oro. To defend the harbor from any hostile naval penetration, Buonaparte recommended the construction of two batteries below Aspreto Hill, one to command each anchorage, with a large earthwork crowning the hill behind them for protection from landward attack; the cannon thus sited would be able to sweep the entrance—together with the guns of Ajaccio citadel on the other side—with a heavy crossfire. Any comparison of the maps of Ajaccio and Toulon will reveal a marked topographical resemblance between the two ports and their harbor arrangements. This fact was to be a feature of no little importance in the unfolding drama before Toulon five months later. From a close study of the defensive requirements of his hometown, Napoleon unconsciously discovered the key to the defenses of Toulon. The Hill of Aspreto and Point l’Eguilette carry out precisely the same dominating function for their respective anchorages: whether in the hands of the defenders or the attackers, they controlled the waters of the bays.
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A little later in the year Captain Buonaparte was sent off to Avignon to collect a powder convoy destined for the Army of Italy. His journey coincided with the Revolt of the Midi, the most serious challenge yet encountered by the French Republic, and as things turned out the Army of Italy had to wait for this particular consignment of gunpowder for some little time.

The causes of the revolt went back to the early days of the Revolution; the loyally Catholic local population of the south did not approve of the Civil Constitution of the Clergy, nor of the abrupt levy of 300,000 troops by conscription for the defense of la Patrie from invasion on the whim of a distant but interfering Parisian government. But the final straw was the repressive legislation of May 31 and June 2, 1793. These ruthless acts of the new dictatorial Jacobin government, so evidently a breach of the principles of Liberté and Egalité, caused Marseilles to flame into immediate rebellion. Avignon followed suit, and it was common knowledge that the citizens of Toulon were contemplating similar action. In some alarm, the Député-en-Mission at Lyons, Dubois-Crancé, ordered the immediate concentration of some 3,000 troops at Valence, and gave the command to one Colonel Carteaux, an erstwhile painter and policeman. By July 6 the Marseillais had occupied Avignon, and Captain Buonaparte lost no time in hurrying to offer his services to Carteaux. His offer was accepted, and Buonaparte accordingly took part in the chaotic action at Avignon which by default ended in a nominal success for the forces of the Republic (although in Le Souper de Beaucaire the author is at some pains to represent this near-fiasco as a considerable martial achievement).

After a pause to regroup his forces, Carteaux moved on Marseilles, and the city duly fell to his arms and propaganda on August 25. As operations now seemed virtually complete, Captain Buonaparte requested permission to proceed to Avignon and fulfil his neglected duty as a convoy master, and was forthwith struck off the strength of Carteaux’s army—although it was destined to be but a brief separation.

Then, on the night of August 27–28, Toulon raised the standard of revolt and admitted an Anglo-Spanish fleet. This was a most serious matter for Republican France; Toulon was not only the most important naval arsenal of the country, it was also the key to French control of the Mediterranean, and its loss through treachery represented a most damaging blow to the Republic’s reputation, both at home and abroad. If Toulon was not regained, there was no knowing where the contagion of revolt—already flaming brightly in La Vendée—might next spread. In other words, Toulon could be regarded as a test case; nothing less than the survival of the Revolution was at stake.

The French Government lost little time in taking such immediate countermeasures as lay in its power. Carteaux’s strength was brought up to 12,000 men, and a further 5,000 under General Lapoype were detached from the Army of Italy. At the beginning there were hardly 4,000 Allied troops (British and Spaniards mainly) manning the defenses of Toulon, but this figure rapidly rose to 8,000 and eventually to 15,000 as new convoys of shipping brought reinforcements into the port. By the end of the first week in September, Lapoype had reached the eastern landward approaches to Toulon and successfully occupied Hyères and Sollies. Meanwhile Carteaux (accompanied by the Représentants du Peuple Saliceti, Gasparin and Barras) was steadily approaching from the opposite point of the compass, pushing back various outposts of the Toulon garrison as he came. In one such scuffle at the village of Ollioules on the 7th, Captain Dommartin, commander of the artillery attached to Carteaux’s army, received a serious wound.

Dommartin’s incapacitation meant that Carteaux was faced with the prospect of conducting a vital siege without the services of any experienced regular artillery officer. Although the cannon attached to the army were not impressive in number—consisting of two 24-pounders, two 6-pounders, a couple of mortars and a handful of smaller field guns, scantily provided with ammunition and equipment (five batteries in all)—this was not an encouraging development. Nevertheless, in the days that followed the Revolutionary Army (or perhaps we should say “armies,” for the divisions of Carteaux and Lapoype continued to operate completely independently), perhaps numbering 15,000 men at this juncture, proceeded to isolate the city of Toulon and its string of protective forts.
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Abruptly, on September 16, fate took a hand. Captain Buonaparte, escorting his slow-moving convoy of powder wagons along the road from Marseilles to Nice, dropped off en route to pay his respects to his Corsican friend Saliceti at Beausset. He had earlier ascertained that Carteaux’s headquarters were situated in the village. A few hours later he found himself appointed to command Carteaux’s artillery. Saliceti, no doubt mindful of his compatriot’s sterling services in Corsica and of the valuable impact of Le Souper de Beaucaire, felt certain he had found the right man for the task. And, using the great powers invested in the Députés-en-Mission—which transcended even those of the commander in chief—he nominated Buonaparte to fill Dommartin’s vacancy on the spot.

The appointment was certainly to our hero’s liking, but he proved no easy subordinate. From the very beginning he appreciated the steps that should be taken. He was probably the first to realize that French possession of the promontory dominated by Mount Caire and ending in Point l’Eguillette would compel the Allied fleet to evacuate the Petite Rade and the quay sides of Toulon; the path to victory lay in isolating Toulon from the seaward as well as the landward sides. Carteaux and Lapoype had other ideas, and no doubt they soon became heartily sick of the young “know-it-all” planted in their midst. However, they could not entirely ignore his advice. For one thing, he obviously knew more about siege warfare than they did (though this realization must have rankled sorely); for another, he enjoyed the almost unlimited support of the all-powerful Députés, and no general could afford to forget that these formidable civilian experts literally held the power of life and death over even the most senior commanders.

For his part, Buonaparte had little respect for his nominal superiors. Carteaux had been promoted—in typical revolutionary fashion—from the rank of colonel to that of commander in chief through the intermediate grades of brigadier and major general in the space of only three months, and was clearly not up to the responsibilities and complexities of his present exalted position. Carteaux lost no time in demonstrating his inefficiency by insisting on siting a battery near the gorge of Oulioules, supposedly intended to bring fire on the Allied fleet; when it opened fire, however, it was immediately discovered that the guns had been placed well out of range of their target. Furthermore, he ordered his gunners to heat their shot in their cooking-pots for want of the proper equipment; and, worst of all, he took (virtually) no steps to gather siege material during the two weeks that had elapsed since the defection of Toulon. This was hardly an impressive record.

With his accustomed energy, the newcomer tried to remedy affairs. Backed by Saliceti’s vast influence, and also that of Paul Barras (another contact that was to prove of the greatest importance in the future), Buonaparte supervised the construction of two batteries—de la Montagne and des Sans-Culottes—on a hillside overlooking the western shores of the Petite Rade. After a short bombardment on September 20, Buonaparte forced Admiral Lord Hood to move his shipping closer to Toulon—in other words, well into the proposed trap. Two days later, by sheer force of persuasion, Buonaparte induced Carteaux to attack Le Caire. However, the commander in chief designated only a handful of men and guns for the operation and it failed miserably. Even worse, the Allies suddenly woke up to the strategical significance of Point l’Eguilette, and at once sent out a considerable force to occupy the promontory more strongly. Working like moles, the British engineers rapidly built a large and imposing earthwork known as Fort Mulgrave—nicknamed “le petit Gibraltar” by the French—on the height overlooking the point, arming it with twenty heavy cannon and four mortars. Once this was complete, even the sanguine Buonaparte had to recognize the unpalatable fact that the execution of his master plan would be no simple or quick matter.

Meanwhile Buonaparte was hard at work using every possible means to collect the necessary equipment and cannon. He made requisitions here, there and everywhere. Guns were whisked away from Marseilles, from Avignon, from the Army of Italy. Horses and supplies were extorted from the unwilling peasantry by clever use of blackmail. “The sans-culottes of the Midi have only one wish—and that is to purge the territory of the Republic of all tyrants,” he wrote to a Commissary at Valence, no doubt mindful of their recent disloyal conduct. “To achieve this promptly we must procure horses for the artillery park. . . . The Department of Drome, which has given such proof of its republican spirit, must provide you with considerable resources. . . . requisition enough horses to form four brigades, and as many oxen as are required for two more—in all 300 animals.”11

From the outset, however, Buonaparte was dogged by administrative difficulties and confusions; ten-inch mortars arrived with twelve-inch ammunition; Marseilles produced six eight-inch mortars but not a single bomb. Buonaparte was continually extemporizing solutions to such problems: hearing, for instance, that Lieutenant Colonel Gassendi of the artillery was near Grenoble on November 4, he requested him to make a detour by way of Saint-Etienne to collect some 10,000 spare musket barrels.12 By dint of superhuman exertions, in the end he was able to collect almost one hundred guns, including a fair proportion of 24-pounders and long-range mortars. Manning them was another problem, but Buonaparte was not at a loss. At his request, the Députés compulsorily re-enlisted retired artillery officers living in the neighborhood, and bodies of infantry were put through intensive courses of gunnery instruction under the eagle eye of the senior gunner.

All the time Buonaparte was chafing at the delays occasioned by his inefficient superiors and their general lack of purpose and decision. In the end (on October 25) he became so depressed with the prospects of the siege under the present management that he sent an appeal to the Committee of Public Safety for immediate assistance, even though it would involve his own supercession. “The first measure I propose is that you should send up to command the guns some general of artillery who will be able, if only by making use of his rank, to command respect and deal with a crowd of fools on the staff with whom one has constantly to argue and lay down the law in order to overcome their prejudices and make them take steps which theory and practice alike have shown to be axiomatic to any trained officer of this corps.”13 The same document also includes the first known written description of Napoleon’s plan to reduce Toulon by seizing l’Eguilette and establishing batteries on the tip of the promontory. His wrath was only slightly mollified by the news that he had been promoted chef de bataillon or major (October 18). In the end after long delays the Committee sent the aged Chevalier du Teil, the brother of Buonaparte’s old mentor at Auxonne; unfortunately du Teil was too old and infirm to do more than add his verbal support to Buonaparte’s schemes, but this was at least something.

The main trouble with the conduct of the siege of Toulon was the profusion of plans. Everybody thought that he alone knew what needed to be done for the best; there was no real direction from the top. Buonaparte was convinced that he was right. Lapoype was equally adamant that Toulon should be attacked from the eastern side, and demonstrated his conviction by launching a premature and costly attack on his own authority against Mount Faron on October 1 which was eventually repulsed with heavy loss. Carteaux refused to make up his mind, but was fortunately posted away to take command of the Army of Italy on October 23.

Any sanguine hopes, however, that “King Log” would be replaced by a more forceful commander were soon dashed, however, when a certain General Doppet (a doctor by profession) arrived to take over the army, a soldier with even less brain than his predecessor. Fortunately his tenure lasted less than three weeks—a fact not a little due to backstairs prompting by Major Buonaparte and his allies Saliceti and Barras—and he was replaced on November 16 by General Dugommier, an able and intelligent veteran. However Dugommier’s assumption of command was not altogether an unmixed blessing, for there arrived almost simultaneously the Committee of Public Safety’s own idea of how the siege should be prosecuted. Drawn up by a certain armchair idealist named d’Arcon, this plan called for the capture of Mount Faron (to Lapoype’s satisfaction), followed by the opening of regular siege lines—trenches, saps, mines and all the rest—and recommended the employment of an imaginary army of 150,000 soldiers for the task. This was ludicrous, but it needed tact to persuade the Parisian bureaucrats that they were wrong.

Nevertheless, throughout this period of divided councils and indecision, Buonaparte quietly continued making his own preparations. Between October 15 and November 30 he set up a total of eleven new batteries—eight of them containing a total of thirty-eight heavy guns so sited as to neutralize Fort Mulgrave with crossfire, two more (mounting nine cannon) to oppose Fort Malbousquet on the northern shore of the Petite Rade, and the last to bring the fire of six long-range mortars to bear on the city and installations of Toulon itself.14

Buonaparte was confident that these scientifically placed batteries would suffice to achieve the objects of what he termed the “first period” of the siege, namely the capture of l’Eguilette, the expulsion of the English fleet from La Petite Rade and the cover for a feint attack against the Faron mountain. If it proved necessary, in the “second period” more guns would be brought to bear against Fort Malbousquet prior to its capture by escalade; that achieved, it would only remain to concentrate fire against the arsenal of Toulon and batter a breach between the bastion of that name and its neighbor, le Marais.

Some of these French batteries were very uncomfortably sited from the point of view of their gunners and garrisons. One in particular, situated immediately below Fort Mulgrave, enjoyed an evil reputation until Buonaparte hit on the idea of setting up a large board outside the entrance bearing the legend, “Batterie des hommes sans peur”; from that moment there was never a lack of volunteers for the exposed post.

Thus weeks passed into months, and still Toulon defied the tricolor. At length on November 25 General Dugommier summoned a council of war—at which Buonaparte served as secretary—and it was decided to implement the scheme Buonaparte had always had in mind: namely, a massive bombardment against the defenses of the promontory, followed by a dawn attack against Fort Mulgrave supported by a feint attack against Mount Faron, and lastly, the establishment of a battery on Point l’Eguilette which could rake the British fleet with red-hot shot.

However, four days later the Allied garrison conducted a sortie in strength from Fort Malbousquet and virtually destroyed the Battery of the Convention on the extreme left of the line, spiking the seven 24-pounders it contained. Dugommier and Buonaparte in person led up the counterattack, and a hot action ensued which Napoleon later recalled at St. Helena. After siting some guns to sweep the approaches to Ollioules lest the British General O’Hara should exploit his success and press on for the French field parks and stores, “I went over to one of the heights overlooking the lost battery . . . and with a battalion of 400 men crept along a trench covered with olive branches which led to the height where the battery was. This trench had been dug in order to bring up powder and other provisions. In this way I reached the foot of the battery without being discovered, and from there I directed a violent fire from right and left on the English and Neapolitans who were occupying the battery without it being possible for them to know whence this firing came. The Neapolitans returned the fire without aiming, believing that the English had fired on them. An officer wearing a red coat, whom we then took to be a colonel, climbed on to the breastwork to see what was taking place. A noncommissioned officer of the French battalion fired at him and fractured his arm. The officer we took for a colonel, and who turned out to be General O’Hara himself,I rolled to the foot of the battery which was on the side of the French.”15 Subsequently Buonaparte in person—or so he claimed—took this prize captive and ensured that he received good treatment, returning him his sword. Whether this tale be apocryphal or no, Buonaparte received a written tribute in Dugommier’s report to Paris: “Among those who most distinguished themselves and who gave me the most help in rallying the men and leading them forward are citizens Bonna Parte, Commandant of the Artillery, Arena and Cervoni, Adjutants-General.”16 The sortie was accordingly repulsed, losing 400 killed and 200 prisoners.

The loss of their commanding general did nothing to rally the morale of the garrison of Toulon. After two more weeks of preparations—including the arrival of a new brigade under André Massena (December 14)—and heavy shelling, Dugommier finally authorized the assault on Fort Mulgrave for December 17. Early that morning, covered by an intense bombardment, 6,000 troops under General Muiron stormed Fort Mulgrave with success (at a cost of 1,000 casualties) while on the northeastern side of Toulon, Brigadier General Massena captured Fort d’Artigues; within a few hours Buonaparte had also made himself master of the smaller fortifications on Point l’Eguilette and the neighboring tower of Balaquier—having a horse killed under him and receiving a bayonet wound in the thigh in the process—and by late afternoon on the 18th a battery often guns was ready to sweep the inner harbor.

This was the decisive development of the siege: the “moment of truth” when the equilibrium is broken. Hardly had Buonaparte opened fire on the British Fleet than Lord Hood ordered the evacuation of the Petite Rade. The same evening the British troops blew up the arsenal, clear proof that the siege was almost over. A certain naval post captain, Sir William Sidney-Smith, attempted to destroy the French shipping and stores in the basin, but succeeded only in burning ten vessels due to the insubordination of some Spanish assistants. A few hours later the last British and Allied troops sailed from Toulon, packing onto their crowded transports as many citizens of Toulon as possible. Finally, at 9:00 A.M. on December 19, the Revolutionary forces took possession of Toulon.

According to Napoleon’s Memoirs, there was no disgraceful massacre of the type that had taken place at Lyons. A few hundred collaborators were rounded up, tried by a special tribunal and then shot. According to Sir William Sidney-Smith, however, the revenge of the French Government was more drastic. “The royalists and the liberated convicts were driven into the great square of Toulon,” he wrote, “and were compressed together into one huge mass. Buonaparte, who then commanded the artillery, fired upon the people, and mowed them down like grass; those who had escaped his fire threw themselves down upon the ground, hoping to avoid their threatened doom, when the future Emperor of the French, taking advantage of the first moment of awful stillness which prevailed after the roaring of the cannon, exclaimed in a loud voice, ‘The vengeance of the French Republic is satisfied—rise and go to your homes,’ which summons the wretched people no sooner attempted to obey than a second murderous discharge of his artillery hurled them into eternity.”17 If this account of events be true, and Sir Sydney’s recollections are not wholly above suspicion—for he subsequently waged something of a personal vendetta against Napoleon’s reputation—the brutal streak in Buonaparte’s nature was clearly evident at an early date; in which case this incident at Toulon must be placed alongside the massacre of Jaffa as one of the most disgraceful episodes of his life. Be that as it may, the Convention, eager to wipe out all memory of the rebellion, ordered the name of the city to be changed to Port-au-Montagne and caused all public monuments and buildings to be destroyed as a token of reprisal.

So ended the celebrated siege of Toulon. Although technically he was never more than artillery adviser to a succession of commanders in chief, Major Buonaparte was generally recognized as being the mastermind behind the success. On December 22 the Députés-en-Mission provisionally promoted him to the rank of brigadier general in recognition of his services, and this was subsequently confirmed by the Committee of Public Safety on February 16, 1794.

It was a justified reward. By inspired use of knowledge acquired at Ajaccio and observations made during his many sea journeys to and from Toulon, Brigadier General Buonaparte had hit upon the secret of success by appreciating the military problem correctly. He had then doggedly pressed his views despite a host of practical discouragements and intentional snubs on the part of his superiors until he had won his way. Personally supervising the placing and construction of every battery, and taking part in several hand-to-hand combats with the foe in defense of his beloved guns. Of course the artillery was the true weapon for the task; as he wrote to the Committee in Paris, “It is the artillery that takes places; the infantry can only aid it.”18

And so at last Napoleon Buonaparte had emerged onto the scene of European History. If Le Souper de Beaucaire helped him toward his initial opportunity, it was the conduct of the siege of Toulon that earned him his first military reputation. But it would be erroneous to believe that his brilliant career was safely assured after December 19, 1793; twenty-three years might be a young age to be promoted brigadier general, but in the French army of the time such preferment was no guarantee of future success. Indeed, since 1789, a series of French governments and their representatives had sacked no less than 680 general officers—or an average of 170 a year. At least half of these, moreover, had been executed by firing squad or the guillotine. Thus promotion to the higher ranks of the armed forces, as well as being a distinction, was also something of a hazard and a liability, with officious and militarily ignorant Députés-en-Mission only too ready to sign a general’s death warrant on the spot if he were so unfortunate as to lose a skirmish on one of their “bad days.” As we shall see in the next chapter, Brigadier General Buonaparte came close to sharing such a fate at least once in the ensuing months, and did in fact lose his new rank no less than three times as successive regimes in Paris followed one after another. A military career was far from being a boring or tedious affair in the uncertain days of the First French Republic.



I. General O’Hara was commander of the British troops and military governor of Toulon.
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BRIGADIER GENERAL OF ARTILLERY

The early development of Napoleon’s military experience had so far progressed with almost mathematical precision. As a probationary sous-lieutenant at Valence he learns to point a cannon and handle a ramrod. In the years that follow, he accumulates a vast store of learning, mainly drawn from books, supplementing this with a little experience in man-management and leadership in minor policing operations in Corsica and France, learning at first hand the characteristics of both regular and volunteer soldiery under a variety of conditions and coming to distrust the chameleon influence of politics on soldiering. Then, in the abortive expedition to La Maddalena, he learns to site and handle a battery in action—and also comes to recognize the difficulties involved in combined operations and the drawbacks of weak leadership at regimental level. Next, at Toulon, his horizons again widen—he virtually runs a major operation and, through personal contact with the abysmal efforts of Carteaux and Doppet, again comes to realize what opportunities lie before an able soldier. And now, in the two years that separate his emergence at Toulon from his promotion to an independent command in 1796, he practically directs the strategy of an entire army operating in an important theater of war.

Buonaparte packed all this many-sided experience into the short span of eleven years and emerges to assume his first major command at the age of twenty-six. True, he was fortunate in his time; a career ouverte aux talents was a reality in the 1790s. Yet only the career of Alexander the Great bears comparison to that of Napoleon Buonaparte in respect of rapidity.

The twenty-eight months between December 1793 and March 1796 saw the emergence of Napoleon the strategical planner, and also, on a lesser plane, of a political opportunist worthy of Machiavelli. The period can be studied from two points of view: first, as a period of theoretical preparation for the triumphs of 1796–97; secondly, as a period of none too steady consolidation of his personal position.

After a brief spell as inspector of coastal fortifications along the Riviera, Brigadier General Buonaparte moved to Nice to take up the appointment of senior gunner in the Army of Italy. Under normal conditions this was hardly a position likely to yield great opportunities for directing operations, but under the prevalent peculiar circumstances this was exactly what Buonaparte proceeded to do. His new commander in chief, General Dumerbion, was no ball of fire; he was a good soldier of fair record, but he was old. He had also seen too many colleagues purged and executed for mishandling operations or holding unfashionable political views, and consequently possessed little inclination to undertake anything dashing. He had hit upon the safe solution to the quandary facing every revolutionary general by deciding always to ask the Députés-en-Mission for their suggestions concerning operations and then acting upon them. That way he felt he could at least keep his head on his shoulders.

Now it so happened that both Saliceti and Augustin Robespierre were at this time the Government’s accredited representatives to the Army of Italy, and there is small wonder that they were quite prepared to listen to the dynamic, if youthful, senior gunner, who had so recently given proof of his practical abilities and was also a good Jacobin, a rarity among professional army officers. And so Dumerbion was ruled by the Representatives, and they in turn by Brigadier General Buonaparte. Circumstances were certainly acting in his favor.

In the spring of 1794 the Army of Italy was not in a particularly promising position. After two years of inconclusive war against Piedmont, the French were uncomfortably pinned between the Alps and the Mediterranean, with the well-entrenched positions of the Piedmontese army to the north and the frigates of the Royal Navy to the south. The immediate problem was to defeat the Piedmontese and at the same time break the stranglehold on the vital Genoese grain trade being exerted by the Royal Naval squadron and Piedmontese privateers based on Oneglia. The mountainous and inhospitable nature of the Alpine foothills discouraged even Buonaparte from any idea of a direct attack toward the Piedmontese army’s entrenchments near Saorgio; instead Buonaparte drew inspiration from the writings of Guibert and Bourcet. He decided that the best course to pursue would be a main drive along the coast road to capture Oneglia and thus reopen the sea link with Genoa, associating this move with an attack into the mountains between the Roya and Nervia river valleys toward Mount Tanardo, and thence the town of Ormea and the line of the River Tanaro, supported by a further feint attack toward the fortress of Saorgio. Such moves should achieve three things: first, ease the coast trade situation as already mentioned; secondly, turn the strategic flank of the Piedmontese army and compel it to abandon its positions and retire; and thirdly, leave the Army of Italy at the close of the campaign in the useful position of controlling two vital passes on the edge of the mountains, ready for a further advance into the fertile plains of Piedmont. This plan was soon accepted, and Dumerbion raised no objections to having 20,000 men withdrawn from his 43,000-strong field army to form a striking force, nor to their subdivision into three attacking formations and a reserve.

Despite initial delays caused by heavy snowfalls, the offensive eventually went according to plan. On April 16, General Massena,I entrusted with two brigades for the inland attack, swept past Monte Tanardo and on to Ormea without encountering serious opposition. On learning that the Piedmontese were still lingering around Saorgio, he then swung rapidly westward, cut their line of retreat and compelled them to surrender to Dumerbion, who pushed up the main Nice road with the remainder of his army. On the coastal sector, meanwhile, the attack was proceeding equally successfully. Not only Oneglia but also Albenga and Loano beyond fell to the French in quick succession, and by early May the Army of Italy was firmly planted along the watershed of the Maritime Alps with the important Col de l’Argentières, Tende and St. Bernardo passes under their control. Once again, by means of a correct appreciation, Buonaparte had devised an effective plan of operations solving the immediate strategic problem. Many features of the campaign had been borrowed directly from Bourcet’s Princtpes de la Guerre des Montagnes, a copy of which he probably studied some years previously at Auxonne or Pommiers as the protégé of the Baron du Teil. Nevertheless, it was an encouraging beginning; and many features of future campaigns—the use of diversions, the division of the army into petits pacquets (apparently dispersed but in fact carefully placed within supporting distance of one another) and the use of a centrally placed reserve—spring immediately to mind.

Through the medium of the Députés, Brigadier General Buonaparte produced a second plan of operations without delay. It was a plan designed to exploit the initial success and break through the 45,000-strong Piedmontese army in order to penetrate into the plain of Mondovi and thus relieve the critical shortage of supplies being suffered by the Army of Italy. In some ways this plan was rather more ambitious; it called for closely concerted action between the Army of Italy and the neighboring Army of the Alps; the immediate target was to be the area known as “the Barricades” not far above the Col de l’Argentières. While the two French armies moved along their respective lines of operations to a general rendezvous near the fortress of Coni, a further force would sweep down into the plains from the neighborhood of the distant Col di Tende and thus complete the disruption of the enemy army. This plan was duly adopted by the Députés and sent on to Paris for final approval on May 21. After some small queries, Carnot and the Committee of Public Safety approved the plan, and on June 5 the first phase was put into execution.

Once again everything went well at first: the Barricades were occupied with relative ease. However, further than that Carnot, Minister of War, refused to allow the Army of Italy to proceed. His reasons were that he did not wish to see a major offensive in Italy at a time when a large drive on the Rhine front was imminent. He also feared a renewal of trouble in the Midi if the Army of Italy moved too far away. In an attempt to overcome this veto, Augustin Robespierre in person carried the plan to Paris for further consideration. With him went a memorandum—written by the Younger Robespierre but almost certainly drafted by Buonaparte—which illustrates the latter’s mature grasp of the overall problems of strategy. Anxious to dissuade the Committee from dissipating its slender resources on unimportant fronts such as Spain, the author stressed the need for a unified effort against the major foe—Austria.

If the armies which are on the Piedmontese frontier should adopt an offensive principle, they would compel the house of Austria to protect its Italian possessions. . . . The principles of war are the same as those of a siege. Fire must be concentrated on a single point, and as soon as the breach is made the equilibrium is broken and the rest is nothing—the place is taken.

It is Germany that must be crushed; that done Spain and Italy will fall of themselves. The attack must be concentrated, not dispersed.19

In other words, a diversionary attack against Piedmont would compel Austria to weaken her forces on the Rhine, and thus create favorable conditions for a decisive French breakthrough on the main front. This document is practically the prototype for the Campaign of 1796 as originally planned. It reveals the ability of a military mastermind, aged twenty-four years.

While a final decision was awaited, Buonaparte was sent off to Genoa by Representative Ricord on a secret mission to spy out the lay of the land there; this undercover task was to place his life in danger in the very near future.
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Napoleon in Prison as a Young Man (Fort d’ Antibes, 1794)



Then, July 27, 1794, came the coup d’état of Thermidor. Following a day of chaos in the French capital, Robespierre followed his several thousand victims to the guillotine, and all his adherents lost their positions if not their heads. In the witch hunt that followed the abrupt end of the Jacobin “Terror,” everybody who had been associated with the fallen dictator was hounded out and purged. Brigadier General Buonaparte, the friend of Robespierre’s brother, the writer of the Jacobin-inspired Souper de Beaucaire, was inevitably on the list of suspects. On August 6 he was arrested and put in prison by none other than Saliceti, who was clearly determined to save his own position and hunt with the hounds no matter who else’s head should roll. The formal charge was one of suspected treason—connected with Buonaparte’s secret visit to Genoa, which could be misrepresented as an act of treachery.

It is interesting to note that during his enforced leisure in the Chateau d’ Antibes, Napoleon made use of the idle hours to study Marshal Maillebois’ account of the campaign in Piedmont (1745). Considering that his life was in very real danger this shows considerable sang-froid, either he had a young man’s belief in his own immortality, or, rather more likely, he was the sort of man who would continue to learn on his death bed. His incarceration in the fort at Antibes lasted exactly two weeks. Evidence was then produced to prove that the visit to Genoa had been genuine and properly authorized. Rather more to the point, the Army of Italy had ground to a complete halt during his absence, and if any coordination was to be returned to local operations, Brigadier General Buonaparte’s concealed but vital hand was urgently required at headquarters. His release was therefore procured by none other than Citizen Saliceti—who with commendable flexibility was now clearly determined to run with the hare as well as hunt with the hounds.

This unpleasant incident safely past, Buonaparte was soon submitting yet a third plan for Carnot’s approval. This urgency was necessitated by intelligence that the Austrians were massing in the valley of the Bormida for a counteroffensive aimed at capturing Savona and thus reisolating Genoa from France; the main Allied force, commanded by General Wallis, was to sweep over the Col di Cadibona, while a secondary expedition landed from the British fleet to take Savona from the seaward side. It is important to note that Austro-Piedmontese cooperation—so weak and flimsy a concept since 1792—had now been considerably strengthened thanks to the Army of Italy’s recent successes which appeared to pose a real threat to Austrian supremacy in the distant Po valley.

Buonaparte’s plan to meet this counterattack was based on a clear appreciation of what had to be done; the French must secure and hold Savona if they were to spend the coming winter in relative security. However, Carnot’s veto on active operations still remained in force. Despite this obstacle, the Representatives decided that the situation was so grave that they authorized the Army of Italy to move on their own authority, while a messenger was sent speeding to Paris to explain the urgency of the hour. Buonaparte had long ago devised a scheme to disrupt any Austrian advance on Savona; by means of a quick thrust down each side of the western branch of the River Bormida, the Army of Italy could place itself in a position which would at one and the same time isolate the Austrians from their Piedmontese allies and threaten the right flank—and even rear—of the columns moving towards Savona.

On September 19 the French troops began to move forward. The advance went even better than anticipated. The Austrians were taken by surprise and fell back in haste to the village of Dego athwart their line of retreat running toward Acqui, and on the 21st the French forces inflicted an indecisive defeat on them at the battle of First Dego. However, the Austrians (after losing 42 guns) had suffered enough, and overnight they continued their retreat toward Acqui, abandoning all thought of proceeding with their offensive.

The immediate peril having been circumvented, General Dumerbion decided it was time to comply with the letter of Carnot’s general directive forbidding attacks in the Italian theater; in any case his army was in bad need of a rest after a rather active year’s fighting, and his cavalry were still far away seeking fodder in the Rhone valley. Therefore, to Buonaparte’s disappointment, the French forces began to fall back on the 24th. On the way, however, the young brigadier general noted that the Col di Cadibona pass running down to Savona from the Dego area was practicable for artillery and wagon trains (a detail of topographical observation that was to prove of the greatest significance in April 1796). Thus the French retired to a line running from the vicinity of Ormea through Monte St. Bernardo to Vado on the coast. This left them close enough to Savona to ensure that the enemy would be unable to use it as a naval base, and further placed the French within range of Genoa, thus ensuring that small republic’s continued good behavior and cooperation. Fittingly enough, General Dumerbion gave full credit to Buonaparte for the overall achievement of the year: “It is to the ability of the General of Artillery that I owe the clever combinations which have secured our success.”20



I. André Massena had been promoted général de division for his services at Toulon.


4

THE “SWORD” OF PAUL BARRAS

The vagaries of Dame Fortune now began to make themselves felt once more, and Napoleon Buonaparte’s career suffered another temporary setback. Trouble began when he was sent back to Toulon and attached to an expeditionary force of 10,000 men which was being prepared for an attack against Corsica the following March (1795). In the event, this never sailed, for the Royal Naval squadron of Admiral Hotham dispersed the French covering fleet in a series of actions between March 11 and 14, and so the expedition was cancelled. This was galling enough, but worse was to follow. The Ministry of War, finding itself with an excessive number of artillery brigadier generals on the army list, decided in May 1795 that the youngest and most junior of them must be transferred to command a second-rate infantry brigade engaged on counterinsurgency operations with the Army of the West in the notoriously unsettled region of La Vendée.

Nothing could have been further from Buonaparte’s wishes. For one thing he detested the idea of participating once more in squalid civil war; for another, he had no wish to be buried in police work far from the theaters of war where real fame and preferment were to be won. He at once set out for Paris to protest what he regarded as unfair victimization, but on the way there a document caught up with him revealing that his name had now been placed on the supernumerary, unemployed list. This was really too much; a number of stormy interviews in Paris resulted in his being reappointed a brigadier general of infantry attached to the Army of the West, but in his customary manner when faced with a distasteful spell of duty he immediately applied for sick leave and stayed on in Paris. Then, after carrying out a little research into the army list, he discovered that a considerable number of politicians—including the Minister of War himself—were holding the rank (and emoluments) of brigadier generals of artillery, although none of them had the least intention of serving in that capacity. In a fit of pique, Brigadier General Buonaparte sent in his resignation.

This might have been the end of his career, but fortunately for him events in Italy took a convenient turn for the worse. Eight days after Buonaparte’s resignation, the Austrians launched a new offensive on June 29 and succeeded in driving the new commander of the Army of Italy—General Kellermann of Valmy fame—back on Loano. In other words, all the good work of the previous year had been undone at one stroke, and the French forces (reduced to less than 30,000 effectives) were holding their original starting line. Kellermann further gloomily predicted that he would be unable to hold even Nice unless help was sent to him at once. In considerable alarm, the French Government summoned all available Representatives who had some experience of the Italian front to a conference. What was to be done? According to Napoleon’s own account published in his Memoirs of St. Helena, they all said with one voice, “Send for Buonaparte.” In any case, our disgruntled Citizen Buonaparte suddenly found himself reappointed brigadier general of artillery with a semiofficial appointment in the Bureau Topographique at the Ministry of War.

However, for some considerable time he continued to consider transferring his services to the Turkish army, so disillusioned had he become with the unpredictable vagaries of the French military administration. Indeed, he went as far as to submit a formal application to this effect and received verbal approval. But then, fortunately for his future career but perhaps less happily for the peace of Europe, the hand of administrative chaos again intervened: inefficient clerks in the War Ministry surpassed themselves and managed to issue a string of contradictory orders and authorizations. This muddle had not been cleared up by mid-September, when, as we shall see, Buonaparte’s career suffered yet another temporary setback. Nevertheless, it is interesting to note this first turning of his attention to the Oriental scene; no doubt this was partly an act of desperation, but on the other hand his studies of the campaigns of Alexander the Great and the Persian Cyrus had long ago enflamed his interest in the area. Indeed, as we shall see in later chapters, the lure of the East continued to play a not insignificant part in Buonaparte’s policies and dreams of future years.

The Bureau Topograpbique was an institution set up by Carnot in the grim days of 1792 when ruin appeared to be threatening Revolutionary France. It was a haphazard staff organization made up of a collection of rather more intelligent professional officers (many of them, like Carnot himself, from the Engineers), and their intended role was to serve as a sort of general staff for the coordination of the war effort. Buonaparte was now attached to the section dealing with operations on the Italian sector. Reports, summaries, suggestions and instructions poured from his imaginative pen in a steady stream.

“It is indispensable,” Buonaparte wrote in July 1795, “in order to restore the coast traffic [with Genoa] and to secure the subsistence of the south, of Toulon and of the army, to retake the position of Vado.”21 Reinforcements must be provided at all costs—even if it meant stripping the Armies of the Pyrenees and the Rhine. The important position of Ceva must be reoccupied heedless of cost by the Army of the Alps in order to drive a wedge between the Austrians and their Piedmontese allies. Eventually the Committee of Public Safety adopted the views so forcefully expressed by their young adviser and issued orders that bear the clear imprint of Buonaparte’s style to General Schérer, Kellermann’s newly designated replacement.

Soon 6,000 men were on their way to Nice from the Rhine and 10,000 more from the Pyrenees, and agonizingly slowly the French buildup proceeded. Fortunately for the Army of Italy, friction between the Austrian commander, de Wins, and General Colli (commanding the Piedmontese forces) resulted in a period of Allied inaction, for it was not until late September that Schérer was established in his new command. Even then only 33,000 French troops were readily available by early October to fight 30,000 Austrians and 12,000 Piedmontese, while every sort of equipment was in short supply.

Delay after delay was encountered; everything was ready for an advance on November 16, but then a heavy snowstorm led to a postponement until the 23rd. This delay proved of no little advantage to the French. By that time dissension in the Allied camp had reached such a pitch that de Wins threw up his command and handed over to General Wallis once more. The attendant confusion accompanying these changes worked in Schérer’s favor, and his forces were able to steal a march on their opponents. After dividing his army into three semi-independent divisions (on Paris’ instructions) under Sérurier (operating from Ormea), Massena (from Zuccarello) and Augereau (based on Borghetto), he ordered a general advance on November 23. This unseasonal move horrified the surprised Austrian generals, and from the start they were caught off balance. Massena successfully broke through the Austrian center, separating Austrians and Piedmontese, and compelled both wings of the Allied forces to retire in unseemly haste. By the 25th the Battle of Loano had been satisfactorily concluded and it seemed that Ceva was within the French grasp—and indeed the Piedmontese generals were already advising King Victor Amadeus to conclude peace with no further ado—when Schérer’s nerve began to fail him. His lines of communication were both extended and crossing difficult terrain; his men were understrength and poorly fed; not all the promised reinforcements had materialized. Consequently the follow-up after the battle of Loano was poorly conducted, and by the 29th the Austrians had safely extricated their forces and taken up a strong position around Acqui.

It has been convenient to summarize the planning and operations in the North Italian theater between August and November in one continuous narrative, but it is now necessary to return to Paris where vitally important events had been taking place. Brigadier General Buonaparte once again almost suffered personal eclipse when the ever-shifting kaleidoscope of French Revolutionary politics caused new changes in the personnel of the Committee of Public Safety; his recent patrons suddenly disappeared from the seats of power, and the new political leaders promptly sacked Brigadier General Buonaparte on September 15. “Liberté, Egalité” began the relevant document. “Notification of an arrêt by the Committee of Public Safety dated 29th Fructidor, Year III of the French Republic, one and indivisible.

“The Committee of Public Safety decrees that Brigadier General Buonaparte is to be struck off the list of employed general officers on account of his refusal to take up the post duly assigned to him [a reference to his rejection of the Vendean appointment of May]. The Ninth Commission is charged with the implementation of this decision. Signed: Le Tourner, Merlin, T. Berlier, Boissy, and Cambacères—President.”22 This was a blatantly unfair decision, seeing that Buonaparte had subsequently been employed in the Bureau Topographique, but such were the unfathomable ways of politicians. Once again, therefore, Napoleon found himself to all intents and purposes a civilian.

Not for long, however. Paris—that seething center of intrigue backed by mob violence—suddenly irrupted into full revolt once more. The occasion was the publication of the new “Constitution of the Year III,” which placed power in the hands of an executive Directory of Seven and further prolonged the life of the notorious Convention by decreeing that two thirds of its membership should receive automatic transfer into the new Legislative Assembly. The communes and sections of Paris, led by 20,000 National Guardsmen, sprang to arms and prepared to march on the Tuileries Palace where the Convention met for its self-perpetuating deliberations. In great alarm the new government entrusted Paul Barras with the task of protecting the Assembly from mob violence with the 5,000 regular troops available. Barras—who never pretended to be a soldier—sent for ex-Brigadier General Buonaparte. The latter did not hesitate.

Sending off Captain Murat at full gallop to secure the artillery park at Sablons, Buonaparte massed his guns to command the streets leading to the Tuileries. As the mob surged forward from their headquarters at the Church of St. Roch, the order to fire was given; several salvoes of grapeshot tore into the crowd at point-blank range, killing at least 200 and wounding probably twice as many more. The crowd, stunned by this ruthless action, hesitated, turned and fled. By dusk on October 5 order had been everywhere restored. The crisis was over; the power of the Paris mob—so long the unpredictable sanction behind Revolutionary politics—had been broken once and for all.

If Toulon founded Napoleon Buonaparte’s military reputation, his energetic if sanguinary support of the government on the 13th Vendémiaire established him politically. Barras and his relieved fellow Directors could not do enough for their “sword” and deliverer. On October 10 he was promoted to be second in command of the Army of the Interior; six days later he was promoted general of division. On October 26 this commission was withdrawn in favor of one appointing him commander in chief—perhaps the most influential post in the French forces at that time, for the Army of the Interior was patently the largest force and was also charged with the key task of maintaining law and order throughout France.

Napoleon Buonaparte had now arrived on the Revolutionary scene with a vengeance. With customary zeal he devised a series of regulations for the conduct of his new command which form a masterpiece of administrative clarity and show his complete mastery of detail. But he was still not satisfied; he was continually turning his attention to the Italian theater, where the failure of Schérer to exploit Massena’s success at Loano was extremely galling and disappointing. General Buonaparte continued to bombard his new masters with endless memoranda relating to the conduct of affairs along the Ligurian coast. He was forthright in his opinions and did not spare Schérer and his lieutenants from scathing criticism: “They have committed a cardinal error in not forcing the entrenched position at Ceva while the defeated Austrians were reeling back towards Acqui,” began his “Note on the direction that should be given to the Army of Italy” of December 11.I “. . . The capture of Ceva, and the concentration of our army around that strong position, are the sole considerations that can induce the Court of Turin to make peace, and at the same time diminish by a considerable sum the terrific expense which the Army of Italy costs the public treasury.”23 Note the cunning appeal to the pockets of the Directory as a means of getting his way! A second Note on January 19, 1796, was even more to the point. “If the Army of Italy spends the month of February without doing anything, in the same way as it is wasting the month of January, the Italian campaign will be completely ruined. It must be understood that great successes in Italy can only be gained during the winter. Supposing the Army of Italy puts itself in motion at the earliest possible moment, it can march on Ceva, and storm the entrenched camp there before the Austrians [at Acqui] can join up with the Piedmontese.”24

General Schérer and his advisers, shivering amid the inhospitable Alpine foothills with their starving men, became increasingly annoyed by the ceaseless stream of orders and advice emanating from the comfortable offices of the Ministry of War. Although the documents all bore the Minister of War’s signature, the recipients were well aware whose pen was drafting the paragraphs. On February 3, Ritter, one of the current Députés-en-Mission attached to Schérer’s headquarters, wrote to Letourneur, a member of the Directory, complaining stridently. “I have said to you before that eternal project-mongers surround the government. I do not wish to name these individuals gnawed by ambition and greedy for posts above their capacity. You have judged them at the time and on the spot. Why, then, do you not oppose their chimerical and gigantesque plans? Will you suffer the Army of Italy, so deserving by its patience and its victories, to go to its destruction because some madmen are pleased to show you on a map of a country (of which no accurate map exists) how they could seize the moon with their teeth?”25 No doubt the difficulties of life and operations along the Alpine foothills did make them appear to resemble the mountains of the moon to the mediocre men on the spot, but no such considerations would stop General Buonaparte once he had the bit fairly between his teeth.

Very soon a condition of acrimonious dispute existed between Nice and Paris. Schérer continued to acknowledge receipt of his latest voluminous instructions, but countered with less ambitious proposals of his own and wailing appeals for massive reinforcements. If these were not forthcoming, he begged to be relieved of his command forthwith. These sentiments were reiterated in his letters to the Directory of February 4 and 11, and on March 2 he got his wish. The Directory—weary of his continual complaints on the one hand and of General Buonaparte’s ceaseless remonstrations on the other—notified Schérer that his resignation had been accepted. The same day (March 2), General Buonaparte was officially informed that he was to fill the vacancy. The opportunity for greatness had at last materialized.

We can guess that General Bonaparte (we must now spell his name after the French style he then adopted) was aware of his coming appointment at least twenty-four hours in advance, for he sent a request to the library of the Ministry of War for the loan of all available books on Italy.

There followed a week of busy preparation and planning. The overall shape of the French war effort for 1796 was to bear a marked resemblance to that of the previous year, and once again the master mind was that of Lazare Carnot. The overriding aims were to secure France’s frontiers and carry the war deep into enemy territory. It was a strategy of attack, no longer one of defense. Faced by the forces of Great Britain, the Holy Roman Empire, Austria, Sardinia, the Papal States and Naples, the “Organizer of Victory” was nevertheless again facing a complex enough problem.

Fortunately for France, the martial characteristics of these various nations were as varied as the policies of the Allied statesmen. This is a convenient point to consider briefly the basic military characteristics of France’s foes, for some knowledge of their strengths and weaknesses is clearly desirable in making any assessment of the military history of the next two decades.

With dismal memories of defeats sustained in the former American colonies still fresh in men’s minds, it is not surprising to discover that the efficiency and popular esteem of the British Army was far from its zenith at this time. In size it numbered at first a mere 15,000 troops at home and perhaps twice as many more scattered over the face of the globe. The army’s discipline was callous and ferocious. “Curse, hang and flog” summarized the outlook of the British authorities in the early 1790s despite the conscientious efforts of Frederick, Duke of York (King George III’s brother and Commander in Chief) to remedy some of the most glaring evils.

Behind the sad tale of defeats and disappointments that constituted the army’s record between 1793 and 1801 there lay an almost complete lack of realistic planning or supervision. The government connived at most of the abuses surrounding recruiting and the sale of commissions, and many influential men in public life were known to be included in the number of the worst speculators. The result was near-disastrous for the battle readiness of the British Army. Such meager resources as Britain did possess, moreover, were consistently frittered away in cripplingly expensive and largely pointless expeditions in pursuit of an outdated Chathamite conception of Grand Strategy which called for the capture of the enemy’s colonies and a series of raids against supposedly exposed sections of hostile coastline.

As an instrument of war, therefore, the British Army presented a pathetic picture. There was no competent staff organization, although a few so-called “experts” would soon emerge from the institution at High Wycombe (founded in 1799) which ultimately became the Staff College. The organization of the battalions into brigades and divisions remained impermanent. And despite the maritime preoccupations of Whitehall, no real attempt was made to introduce interservice training for combined operations until 1801. The British tactical system, although it embodied much that was potentially good, was generally too rigidly and ponderously linear to present a real challenge to the fluid mobility and flexible tactics of the Revolutionary forces. “Old Pivot,” as General Sir David Dundas was known to the army, introduced a measure of uniformity in the tactical exercises by insisting on the adoption of two-rank battle formations in place of the traditional three, but his military ideas remained too closely patterned on Prussian concepts.

Rigid linear tactics, draconian discipline based on the fear of the lash, endless drill, and implicit discouragement of individual initiative—these were the most obvious characteristics of the red-coated soldiery of John Bull’s island. The public distrusted their nominal defenders as ex-convicts and wastrels; the rank and file continued to be drawn from the most depressed classes of society; a proportion of the officers came from the rather disillusioned landless “younger son” element of the aristocracy and squirearchy; promotion was tied to favor and purchasing power rather than proven ability. Yet there was gold among the dross. The British soldier was famous for his grim humor and steadfastness in face of danger, but, far more significantly, there was a reform movement of great future consequence beginning to gain momentum, inspired by a group of enlightened officers. Foremost among these stand the figures of Sir John Moore and General Crauford. Both insisted on a more humane approach toward the common soldier, on higher standards among regimental officers, on the use of reward as well as punishment to achieve results, and above all on the need to foster self-dependence and initiative at every level. Under Moore’s inspiration at Shorncliffe Camp and elsewhere, a more imaginative tactical system was under development by the late 1790s, based upon flexible and rapid maneuvers performed in open or loose order and designed to emulate and surpass the skirmisher tactics of the French voltigeurs and tirailleurs. Several more soldiers of ability were also making their way toward the top of their profession—including Generals Abercromby and Stuart, while in faraway India a certain Sir Arthur Wellesley was steadily acquiring that wealth of experience destined in the fullness of time to bring low the military pretensions of France. Behind all these progressing improvements stands the figure of “the Grand Old Duke of York,” who more than made up for his limitations as a commander in the field by his skill and farsightedness as an administrator. His support and encouragement, to cite a single example, enabled Colonel le Marchant to found the officer-training establishment that eventually became the Royal Military College Sandhurst,II a step destined in time to improve the professional competence of the British officer corps in the infantry and cavalry arms. There was thus a considerable amount of gold among the dross.

This notwithstanding, Great Britain was probably fortunate to be shielded from her continental foe by the English Channel. Until well into the first decade of the nineteenth century, Britain’s security depended upon the Royal Navy far more than upon her army. The Admiralty controlled 113 ships-of-the-line in 1793, firing a cumulative broadside of some 90,000 pounds. The French fleets, on the other hand, numbered only 76 battleships with a combined 75,000 pounds broadside. Great Britain never lost this lead in the years of expansion that followed, although the far-flung nature of her maritime responsibilities often made it difficult to cover the more centrally positioned French squadrons, while the need to prevent France from acquiring by conquest or negotiation the fleets of other powers forced the British government into mounting several expeditions of questionable legality as the long saga of the wars unfolded.

There is no doubt that the Royal Navy constituted one major factor in the ultimate defeat of France and Napoleon, although the conditions of service in Britain’s ships remained appalling throughout the wars despite the salutary lessons of the Nore and Spithead Mutinies in 1797. Fortunately Great Britain possessed a number of exemplary admirals—Lord Howe, Lord St. Vincent and of course Horatio Nelson. These gifted sailors could inspire their men, however unwillingly recruited by the notorious press gangs, to deeds of great valor in action or endurance in blockade, and as a result the Royal Navy drove its rivals from the seas (by 1805) and thereafter bottled the survivors into continental ports, protected England’s prosperity-giving commerce, blockaded the coasts of a hostile Europe (depriving the French and their allies of vital imports) and transported, supplied and if need be evacuated the British Army on many an overseas expedition, both large and small.

Passing on from the forces of His Britannic Majesty, King George III, let us turn to consider the armies of Republican France’s largest continental enemy—namely, the soldiers of the Hapsburg Empire. The Emperor probably disposed of as many as 350,000 troops during the 1790s, including 58,000 superb cavalry, generally admitted to be the finest in Europe. This military façade was, however, more imposing in appearance than reality. The Hapsburg armies were inevitably multinational in composition, containing Serbs and Croats as well as Austrians and Hungarians. The language problems so caused were never fully overcome, for the Austrian forces could not boast an efficient staff system that might have tackled these difficulties. Every commander in the field was deluged with paperwork, for the Viennese war cabinets and ministries appeared to possess an insatiable appetite for strength returns and endless reports.

In common with the other armies of the European monarchies, the Austrian tactics were based on the old linear pattern. In the very early years of the War of the First Coalition, these methods proved reasonably effective against the ill-trained rabbles which constituted the greater part of France’s armies, but by 1796 the improvements in the Republic’s forces were becoming manifest and were beginning to show up the weaknesses of the old tactical system—as convincingly demonstrated by General Massena at the battle of Loano the previous year. The Austrians put their faith in platoon, company and battalion volleys—and made little attempt to protect their three-or four-deep white-coated ranks behind either natural cover or a skirmisher screen. Austrian generals failed to make the most effective use of their well-trained and superbly mounted cavalry, while Hapsburg artillery units were commonly positioned with little care. It soon became evident that such methods were hopeless against the swarms of elusive French sharpshooters and their well-served batteries, which between them decimated the Austrian formations before even the main action was joined, but the Hapsburg generals and their masters proved incapable of improving their systems until after the cataclysm of 1805.

French armies on the march were famed for one particular characteristic besides pillage, rape and arson: their speed of movement. The far more cumbrous forces of Austria and the Holy Roman Empire never proved a match for their opponents in this respect. One reason for this lay in widely differing concepts of logistical support. Through necessity, the French lived off the countryside for the most part, “making war pay for war,” but this at least freed them from the encumbrance of slow-moving supply convoys and a strategy based on the existence of prestocked arsenals and depots. They never carried more than three days’ supplies. The Austrians, on the other hand, habitually marched with nine days’ full rations in wagons. Small wonder that the French forces, properly led, proved capable of running rings around their slower opponents both strategically and tactically.

The over-all direction of the Austrian war effort was equally antiquated and inefficient. The august Aulic Council, an assembly of gray-beards with supreme authority (under the Emperor) over all matters pertaining to strategy, interfered perpetually with the generals in the field. Nor were the Hapsburgs blessed at this epoch with a plethora of martial talent among its generals. Aging soldiers of the caliber of Melas, Beaulieu, Alvintzi or Kray were to prove generally unsatisfactory opponents when faced by youthful but skilled commanders of Revolutionary France. Only the young Archduke Charles showed true potential, but even he had the distressing habit of slipping into epileptic trances at moments of crisis.

The remaining opponents of France in 1796 merit only a passing glance. The forces of the still-surviving Bourbon monarchies seem to have belonged to the realms of musical comedy rather than the ranks of serious armies. Spain, of course, had already left the Coalition in 1795, but we might mention here that her army was proud but poorly led and hopelessly equipped. The same description—less the pride—equally suits the soldiers of the Kingdom of the Two Sicilies (Naples and Sicily). Even their monarch and titular commander-in-chief had few illusions about the prowess of his men in action. When it was suggested that a change of uniform might help inspire a few martial virtues in his men he realistically replied, “Dress them in red, blue or green—they’ll run away just the same.” The temporal forces of the Holy Father’s Papal States were similarly unreliable—and hardly constituted a serious opponent. Those of the Kingdom of Savoy—Piedmont and Sardinia—were closely trained after the Austrian pattern by military missions sent from Vienna, while their commanders in chief, General Colli—himself an Austrian—and the Prince of Corrigan, were truly eighteenth-century soldiers in every sense of that term.III

To face these various enemies, for all practical purposes the French government had five main armies in the field in the spring of 1796.IV General Jourdan was commanding the Sambre-et-Meuse (initially 70,000 strong) along the reaches of the Lower Rhine; General Moreau’s Armée du Rhine-et-Moselle contained as many more troops in Alsace; the Army of Italy comprised perhaps 63,000 effectives (including fortress and second-line troops). In addition to these frontline armies, there were two smaller reserve formations capable of operational roles; Kellermann’s Armée des Alpes, presently at a strength of 20,000 men, and another still smaller force forming in Provence and along the River Var. In all, perhaps 240,000 French soldiers were available for active service on the eastern frontiers.

What use did Carnot intend to make of these forces? Strategically there were two theaters—Germany (the main front) and Italy (the secondary). Carnot had already confirmed this order of priority in a decree dated January 6, 1796. General Jourdan was to invest the fortress of Mainz and after its capture advance into Franconia; General Moreau was to mask the fortress of Mannerheim and push on into Swabia; the commander of the Army of Italy, meanwhile, was to implement the invasion of Italy, with the Austrians holding the Po valley as his main objective. It was hoped that Piedmont, properly handled, would defect to the French camp, and that following the capture of the Plain of Lombardy the Army of Italy would be able to advance to the Adige. Then, all being well, the French would march up that river valley and cross the Alps by way of Trent into the Tyrol, where they would make contact with Moreau and cooperate in the final elimination of the Austrian army.

Such in broadest outline was the plan; on the whole it was a fair one, although the high degree of cooperation and intercommunication required between armies (in the days when a galloping horse provided the fastest speed at which news could travel) would prove daunting enough. Moreover, the general “aggressiveness” of Carnot’s plan was not wholly dictated by considerations of “offensive action”; the finances of the Republic were by this time in so parlous a state that it was economically vital that “war should be made to pay for war,” at least to the extent of moving France’s armies off their native soil for subsistence; the Treasury’s coffers could make good use of any hard cash or booty acquirable by deliberate and wholesale looting of conquered or “liberated” areas. Besides these blatantly materialistic motives, there was also an idealistic element behind the scheme. In pursuit of the Revolutionary principle of fraternité Carnot and his fellow Directors felt an insistent urge to spread their gospel to an “enslaved and reactionary” Europe. Moreover, if the excitements of foreign conquest could help to distract popular attention and discontent from the patent miseries of life within France itself, so much the better.

On his insistence, the contents of General Bonaparte’s orders underwent considerable revision. The first draft directed him to make his chief effort toward the Milanese, supporting this drive with only a secondary attack against Acqui and the containment of Ceva; above all he was to avoid giving offense to Piedmont’s rulers. These political restrictions were unacceptable to Bonaparte; he wanted a free hand or nothing at all. He was adamant that the road to success lay through the initial conquest of Piedmont. By the 6th March he had bullied the Directory (they must have been glad to see the last of him) into amending his instructions to read as follows:
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The Empress Josephine in 1806



Everything bids us seek, by all means in our power, to force the enemy to recross the Po and to make our greatest efforts in the direction of the Milanese.

It seems that this essential operation cannot be undertaken unless, as a preliminary, the French army has taken Ceva. The Directory leaves the General-in-Chief free to begin his operations by attacking the enemy at this point, and whether he obtains a complete victory over them or they retreat to Turin, the Directory authorises him to follow them and to strike them again and even to bombard that capital if circumstances make it necessary.

After making himself master of Ceva and having brought the left of the Army of Italy near to Cuneo in order to threaten and contain the garrison of that place, the General-in-Chief will as soon as possible provide for the needs of the army by utilising the resources of Piedmont. He will then direct his forces towards the Milanese, chiefly against the Austrians. He will drive the enemy across the Po, will lay hands on the means of crossing that river, and will try to secure the fortresses of Asti and Valenza.26

In other words, General Bonaparte had won his way yet again; he had been awarded carte blanche.

The military preoccupations of the last ten months had not wholly precluded an interesting social life for Napoleon Bonaparte; and now, just before setting out to command his first field army he took another step that proved a turning point in his life—by marrying on March 9 the attractive and wilful widow of the late General de Beauharnais, the beautiful creole, Josephine.



I. In the Correspondance the note is dated 12th October. This is an error.

II. The first Military College was opened at High Wycombe (1799) but moved to Great Marlow in 1802 as the “junior department.” The final move to Sandhurst took place in 1812. Gunner and Engineer officer-cadets were trained at the older Royal Military Academy situated at Woolwich (founded in 1741 and known as “the Shop”). The two institutions were merged in 1947 to form the present Royal Military Academy Sandhurst.

III. For a description of the military capabilities of France’s later foes, see the following pages: the Russian Army, pp. 518–520 passim; the Prussian Army, p. 454–56 passim; the Turks, p. 226. The Spanish armies are also described in more detail on p. 625–27.

IV. The Army of the Interior is deliberately omitted from this list. Its role was predominantly counterinsurgency, the maintenance of law and order and the finding of drafts for the front.
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PART TWO

In Search of a Reputation

THE CAMPAIGN IN NORTH ITALY, APRIL 1796 TO APRIL 1797
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COMMANDER IN CHIEF

SOLDIERS! You are hungry and naked; the government owes you much but can give you nothing. The patience and courage which you have displayed among these rocks are admirable; but they bring you no glory—not a glimmer falls upon you. I will lead you into the most fertile plains on earth. Rich provinces, opulent towns, all shall be at your disposal; there you will find honour, glory and riches. Soldiers of Italy! Will you be lacking in courage or endurance?”1

On March 27, 1796, the youthful General Bonaparte reviewed part of the ragged, disgruntled Army of Italy in the headquarters town of Nice, only a few hours after taking over command. The authenticity of the proclamation issued on this occasion has been queried by some authorities, who accuse Napoleon of fabricating the words years later on the island of St. Helena to lend color to his memoirs. Whatever the truth of this assertion, it nonetheless provides a fair description of the condition of Napoleon’s first field command at the outset of the campaign, and throws considerable light on the type of incentives that appealed to the Revolutionary soldier of that epoch. To the motley collection of hungry scarecrows, who bore a closer resemblance to brigands than to trained soldiers, the prospect of adequate food and the chance to loot meant far more than any amount of propaganda about the “rights of man” or the proselytizing mission of the French Republic.

The morale of the army was not of the highest order; the units were strung out in numerous small detachments along the coast road from Nice to Savona, their communications exposed to attack from the sea by Nelson’s frigates, from the hills by bands of “Barbets” or local guerillas, and from the mountainous interior by the numerically superior Austrian and Piedmontese forces. For their meager rations they were dependent on the whim of fraudulent army contractors, who were amassing private fortunes at the expense of the soldiers they were cheating, and the exhausted hillsides of Piedmont offered little compensation to the hordes of foragers, officers and men alike, who quitted their units every day in search of food. For their pay, already months in arrears, they relied on the insecure finances of the practically bankrupt French Government. Every type of equipment was in short supply. Whole battalions were without shoes—many men even without muskets and bayonets; the entire transport facilities of the army amounted to 200 mules. The horses of the cavalry had been on half rations for more than a year already, and there were only twenty-four mountain guns operationally available. Under these circumstances the army was rapidly disintegrating; its original strength when first raised in 1792 had been 106,000 men, but when Bonaparte took over command from the aged and incompetent Schérer four years later, this total had been reduced by desertion, sickness and casualties in action to a nominal 63,000, and of this number there were only some 37,600 effectives and some 60 field guns available for immediate action. Replacements had virtually stopped.

Part of the army was in a mutinous frame of mind, and it was common knowledge that royalist agents were at work in the ranks. In several demi-brigadesI clandestine meetings were being held by the Compagnies du Dauphin, and in January one unit had been insolent enough to denounce General La Harpe for ordering its commanding officer to remove mourning crepe from the tricolors, placed there to commemorate the execution of the ci-devant King, Louis XVI. More recently, on March 18, Sérurier’s division stationed at Ormea had defied orders, and on the 25th—only two days before General Bonaparte’s arrival—the 3rd Battalion of the 209th had mutinied at Nice. Hunger and neglect were fast turning the army into an indisciplined rabble, and it was evident to the new commander that only a successful offensive could remedy this state of affairs. Through Berthier, his chief of staff, he had immediately summoned the three senior divisional commanders to headquarters to receive his orders for the forthcoming campaign.

It was an ill-assorted trio that eventually presented themselves for the general’s inspection on March 27. At the age of fifty-three, Sérurier was the oldest—a tall, gloomy man with a scar on his lip—who had seen thirty-four years service in the old Royal Army before the Revolution and was really a soldier of the ancien régime in both his experience and outlook. He was a methodical worker and severe disciplinarian, somewhat out of place in this citizen army, and had few claims to military distinction; an air of aristocratic nostalgia lingered around this ci-devant nobleman.

In complete contrast, General Augereau was a product of the Paris gutters, and his thirty-eight years had been packed with colorful adventures. The son of a poor stonemason, he had enlisted in the ranks of the Royal cavalry, but after killing an officer who insulted him he hastily fled to Switzerland and thence transferred to the Russian army, where he rose to the rank of sergeant fighting against the Turks. A few years later found him enlisted in Frederick the Great’s famous Guards, but dissatisfied with the terms of service he once more deserted, and for a time earned his living as a fencing master in Dresden. A series of adventures—both military and amorous—in Greece, Italy and Portugal were eventually terminated by his return to France in 1792, and within a year he had risen to the rank of divisional general. Contemporaries described him as a buffoon, bully and bonhomme, but he was also an able tactician and thorough soldier, popular with the men. He had few social graces, speaking the coarse language of the Paris gamin to the end of his life, but his towering height and huge hooked nose made him an imposing figure. A ceaseless grumbler, he nevertheless had as keen an eye for the weak spot in an enemy’s formation as for booty.

The third soldier—André Massena, almost thirty-eight years old—was already known to the general; they had served together at Toulon and in the campaign of 1794. Born in Nice, he started life as a cabin boy, but eventually joined the army where he rapidly rose to the rank of sergeant major before applying for an honorable discharge in 1789. For the next three years—according to a rather dubious source—he is reputed to have lived the life of a smuggler, moving contraband through the hills of Savoy into Italy and learning the country like the back of his hand—experience, if true, that would stand him in good stead in the years to come. In 1792 he resumed his military career in the Revolutionary Army, and by 1795 he was the senior divisional commander of the Army of Italy, the famous victor of the battle of Loano. A dark, thin, taciturn man, with a boundless taste for money and women, Massena was in due time to prove one of the ablest of Napoleon’s leaders, and was already a soldier of vast practical experience.

The initial reaction of these three experienced soldiers to the news that they were to be commanded by a mere boy, not yet twenty-seven, was one of doubtful amazement. Bonaparte appeared a jumped-up “political” soldier, preferred to high rank through the influence of the notorious Barras—a member of the Directory—whose cast-off mistress, Josephine Beauharnais, the young man had recently married. His juvenile eagerness to show off her portrait caused cynical amusement among the older men. His small stature and lean build caused one contemporary to record that he “looked more like a mathematician than a general.”2 Count Yorck von Wärtenburg gives a fuller description: “Owing to his thinness his features were almost ugly in their sharpness; his walk was unsteady, his clothes neglected, his appearance produced on the whole an unfavorable impression and was in no way imposing; but in spite of his apparent bodily weakness he was tough and sinewy, and from under his deep forehead there flashed, despite his sallow face, the eyes of genius, deep-seated, large and of a greyish-blue color, and before their glance and the words of authority that issued from his thin, pale lips, all bowed low.”3 Although they reserved their opinion of his military talents, the three divisional commanders were at once impressed in spite of themselves by their commander’s eagerness and determination. “A moment afterward,” wrote Massena, “he put on his general’s hat and seemed to have grown two feet. He questioned us on the position of our divisions, on the spirit and effective forces of each corps, prescribed the course we were to follow, announced that he would hold an inspection on the morrow and on the following day attack the enemy.”

The new general brought with him a small staff of officers. For the position of chief of staff, Bonaparte was fortunate to secure the services of Alexandre Berthier, a 42-year-old engineer officer with an extraordinary aptitude for staff work. The previous year he had headed General Kellermann’s staff in the Army of the Alps, and was fully conversant with the problems of mountain campaigning. Although in manner frequently brusque and harsh and in appearance most unprepossessing—his head was huge and out of proportion to his small stature—uncouth in manners, persistently biting his nails, clumsy in his movements, Berthier’s capacity for assembling detail and his ability to work twenty hours a day were phenomenal. Bonaparte owed much of his early success to the administrative talents of Berthier, his eminence grise—but those who thought that the chief of staff would serve as a “dry nurse” to the young general were to be rapidly disillusioned.

In addition to his chief of staff, Bonaparte’s entourage included a number of brilliant young officers all destined to achieve high rank and military fame. The lively Gascon cavalryman, Joachim Murat, who with superb nerve had suggested his own appointment, was serving as a colonel aide-de-camp. Murat made up with his dash and personal courage for certain deficiencies of imagination and intellect. Then there was Major Junot, aged twenty-four, who had served as a sergeant at Toulon and followed Bonaparte to Paris in the lean year that followed, and finally the general’s brother, Louis Bonaparte and the young Marmont, just twenty-two, a close personal friend of several years’ standing, a fellow gunner. Rarely had such a galaxy of military talent served together at one time and place. All these staff officers were destined to achieve distinction, and many more leaders of future renown were to emerge from the demi-brigades of the Army of Italy.

Recognizing the need for a minimum period of reorganization and re-equipment, Bonaparte announced that the campaign would open on April 15 and was insistent that every effort should be made to meet the deadline. However, fine words were not enough; he at once ordered a small issue of pay from the limited financial resources entrusted to him by the Directory, and commanded his chief commissary, Chauvet, to investigate the contractors and attempt to secure sizeable loans from the wealthy merchants of Genoa. A captured privateer was sold for £5,000 to swell the military chest.

As was mentioned in the last chapter, the Directory’s overall plan of operations for 1796 was in many respects similar to that of the previous year, and the dominant influence was again that of Carnot. The main effort was to be made on the German front, while, on the secondary Italian front, General Bonaparte was to try out the theories he had formulated during his spell at the Bureau Topographique in Paris. It was hoped that Austrian attention would be diverted from the crucial northern theater by the Army of Italy’s action against Piedmont and Lombardy, and that after the successful “pacification” of North Italy, General Bonaparte would be free to march over the Alps to join Moreau in the Tyrol for the final drive on Vienna, the ultimate objective. Two small reserve armies—one on the slopes of the Western Alps under Kellermann, the other further back in the region of the River Var—would support these operations by at least partially protecting Bonaparte’s lines of communication with Provence.

This plan of campaign appeared impressive on paper, but in sober practice it contained several flaws. In the first place, the two French offensives were not in any real sense within supporting distance of one another, separated as they were by the immense barrier of the Alps where the main passes were all firmly in Austrian hands. Secondly, if either offensive flagged, the weight of the enemy’s forces could be transferred over these same passes to the support of their harder-pressed comrades on the second front. Finally, the plan assumed the willingness of the French generals to act in concert, but in the event the two commanders on the German front proved suspicious of their colleague in Italy and failed to afford him their fullest cooperation; and, for his part, Bonaparte tended to regard his theater of operations as the only one of consequence. The Directory refused to appoint a supreme commander to coordinate these complementary offensives, and these problems were to become only too clear with the passage of time. Their cumulative effect on the operations of the Army of Italy was to be most pronounced, and it was to take all the genius and application of the young General Bonaparte to overcome the ensuing difficulties.
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The Italian Campaign, 1796–1797



The scene of the First Italian Campaign presented marked contrasts of terrain. The foothills of the Maritime Alps and the first ranges of the Appenines ensured that the major fighting in the west would center on the control of the six passes and valleys which penetrate the mountain barrier between Genoa and Nice. Furthest west lay the Col di Tende, its northern exit leading into the heart of Piedmont, guarded by the fortress of Cuneo. Twenty-five miles to the east stretched the valley of the River Tanaro, also leading into Piedmont, the river’s upper course commanded by the town of Ceva. Between the coast town of Savona and the important road junction at Carcare lay the Col di Cadibona, affording access to either Piedmont through Ceva or to Lombardy down the two branches of the River Bormida. Through the town of Sassello ran the more difficult Col di Giovo, and further east again lay the Turchino Pass, running north from Voltri on the coast into the Stura valley; finally, linking Genoa with the Lombard Plains, stretched the historic Bochetta Pass. Joining the southern ends of all these valleys ran the narrow and hilly coastal strip containing the road from Marseilles and Toulon to Genoa, the vital lateral communication of the Army of Italy. Although the inhospitality of the area has sometimes been exaggerated—the valleys and foothills were in fact quite fertile by eighteenth-century standards—the local resources were not sufficient to supply the needs of both the population and a resident army of occupation unless the latter was equipped with a comprehensive and efficient system of rear depots and supply convoys. In both these respects, the Army of Italy was notably deficient, and this left its commander with the stark alternatives of moving to more fertile enemydominated areas or seeing his men starve.

Once these mountains were conquered, however, the rich plains of Lombardy presented a remarkable contrast. The dominating natural feature was the great River Po with its series of Alpine tributaries—the Sestia, Ticino, Adda, Oglio and Mincio watercourses, and beyond them the rivers Adige and Brenta, flowing independently into the Adriatic. To any attacker from the west, these waterways appeared to present a formidable series of water obstacles, their flanks protected by the Alps to the north and the Po to the south. A series of smaller streams similarly linked the Appenines with the Po, but these were less well placed from the viewpoint of the defense, for they provided an invader from the Ligurian coast with a number of easy approaches to the Lombard Plain once he had successfully negotiated the intervening mountain crests. The crossing points over the major rivers were obviously of the greatest military importance; Alessandria dominated the Bormida system, and the town of Valenza provided the best crossing over the upper Po, while further east on the river lay the cities of Piacenza and Cremona, and beyond these again was Mantua on the Mincio, the administrative and military center of Austrian rule in North Italy and the most southerly fortress of the famous “Quadrilateral.” The importance of this strategic area enclosed by the Mincio and Adige, the one river guarded by Mantua and Peschiera, and the other by Verona and Legnano—the last three of these fortresses belonging to the Republic of Venice—was ensured by its geographical position athwart the approaches to the key Alpine passes linking Italy with South Austria, most particularly the valleys of the rivers Chiese, Adige and Brenta. The key to the military domination of the North Italian plain lay in the control of the area of land enclosed within the “Quadrilateral.”

In the last years of the eighteenth-century, the Italian peninsula contained twelve major principalities. Apart from Austrian-occupied Lombardy, three states stood out above the rest in importance; the Kingdom of Sardinia (which included Piedmont and Savoy), the Papal States, controlling the central regions of Italy, and the Kingdom of Naples and Sicily. Of the remainder, only the Grand Duchy of Tuscany and the Serene Venetian Republic controlled sizeable territories, and the smaller principalities, such as Genoa, Parma and Modena, were either forced into the position of satellites to their more powerful neighbors or attempted to maintain a tenuous neutrality. A unified Italy still lay far in the future, and the only sentiment shared by the various reactionary rulers of this “patchwork quilt” of disunited states was fear of the French Government’s revolutionary doctrines. The peoples of Piedmont and Genoa were not, however, as averse to these dangerous ideas as were their rulers, and the existence of this latent sympathy explains the Directory’s orders to Bonaparte to deal carefully with the former in the pious hope that the country of Victor Amadeus might be enticed from the Austrian alliance of its own free will. Elsewhere, even in the Milanese, discontent with the Austrian yoke had produced the very first signs of Italian nationalism. It was hoped that these encouraging movements might materially further the ambitions of the French Government and the operations of the army.

A combination of armies under Austrian control provided General Bonaparte with his military problem. The Austrian commander in chief was the newly arrived 72-year-old General Beaulieu, a reasonably competent soldier whose greatest drawback was his complete lack of initiative, so tightly were his movements controlled by the Aulic Council. Three armies made up Beaulieu’s command. Some 19,500 soldiers were under his direct control, half of them dispersed on garrison duty at Alessandria and elsewhere, the remainder available for use as a field force under Generals Pittoni and Wukassovitch, but still, in early April, in winter quarters. The second force was formed by the 11,500 men of General Argenteau, based on the town of Acqui, and currently deployed after the usual Austrian fashion in a long outpost cordon along the hills from Carcare to the heights above Genoa. The third component was the army of General Colli—made up of some 20,000 Piedmontese troops strengthened by an Austrian detachment under Provera—stretched in a long and thinly-held line from Cuneo in the west to Ceva and Cosseira in the east, mainly engaged in watching the western passes through which the French army might debouch into Piedmont. A further force of 20,000 Piedmontese was stationed west of Turin under the Prince of Corrigan, observing the positions of Kellermann’s Army of the Alps. Discounting these last two forces, which virtually canceled each other out, the 37,000-strong French Army of Italy faced a total of 52,000 Austrians and Piedmontese.

The enemy’s numerical superiority was deceptive, however; besides the scattered location of over half their effective forces, the Allies were weakened by mutual suspicions. There was little love lost between the two governments or their armies, and although General Colli was himself an Austrian on secondment to the Piedmontese army, Vienna had warned Beaulieu to be prepared for the defection of his ally in the none too distant future. The atmosphere of mutual distrust had led each army to set up an independent series of communications running on divergent lines towards Mantua and Turin respectively. This arrangement doubtless served to spread the administrative burden of two field armies over as wide an area as possible, but in the prevailing political tension it only served to emphasize the independence of each wing of Beaulieu’s nominal command. A further weakness was the nature of the terrain which provided the Allies with the poorest of lateral communications, making mutual support extremely difficult, and the extent of ground which had to be covered made it impossible to maintain an effective strategic reserve.



I. The term demi-brigade replaced the term régiment from 1793 on the order of Carnot. This was an attempt to dissolve the ancient dynastic and regional associations of the standing army. In the chaotic early years of the wars, autonomous demi-brigades of volunteers or fédérés served alongside regular formations. These proved so unsatisfactory that shortly before Valmy in 1792 General Kellermann decided to brigade one regular and two fédéré battalions together in his army. This sensible step was eventually applied universally throughout the French land forces after the Amalgame was implemented in 1794.
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THE DEFEAT OF PIEDMONT

If he was not sure of all the details, Bonaparte was well aware of the opportunity offered by his foes’ general dispositions, and he at once set himself to exploit these weaknesses to forestall any aggressive movement on their part. While he completed his plans, Army Headquarters was moved from Nice to Albenga, and thence to Savona on the 9th April. Despite the Directory’s cautions to use King Victor Amadeus gently, Bonaparte determined to launch a ruthless and immediate attack to drive Piedmont out of the war. He was well aware that Turin was already war-weary and likely to prove a comparatively easy victim, and if he was to carry the war into Austrian territory, it was vitally important that his communications with France should be secure. The first stage in the defeat of Piedmont involved the isolation of the intended victim. A study of maps indicated that the town of Carcare was the vulnerable link joining the Piedmontese and Austrian forces. Once this central position was in French hands, Bonaparte planned to concentrate his army’s efforts against the isolated General Colli, leaving a residual part of his force to hold off Argenteau’s Austrians in the vicinity of Dego.

This plan had much to recommend it, being based on an analysis of the events of 1794. Speed and surprise were the vital considerations. To avoid a further deterioration in the fighting capacity of the Army of Italy, a rapid advance to the fertile regions surrounding Turin was of great importance, and it was equally necessary to catch the foe dispersed and unready, furnishing Beaulieu with the least possible warning of what was afoot. An advance over the Col di Cadibona seemed to afford the greatest prospect of success. It provided the shortest approach to Carcare, was suitable for the passage of artillery, and would give the enemy little time to achieve a defensive concentration. The alternative lines of attack presented grave disadvantages. An advance down the Tanaro valley would be hindered by very rough ground, while an onslaught over the more practicable Col di Tende would be too far removed from the target area; both would give Beaulieu time to reinforce the threatened sector. It was therefore decided that Massena’s division would move from its encampments near Savona over the Cadibona to join Augereau’s troops advancing from Finale through the village of San Giacomo for a joint attack on Carcare. In this way Bonaparte hoped to concentrate 24,000 men at the critical point within two days, calculating from a close study of known enemy positions that Argenteau would be able to gather only 11,000 at Dego, and Colli no more than 12,000 between Ceva and Carcare within the same period of time. The margin of local superiority would, however, be only narrowly in the French favor, and much depended on a series of diversionary operations to be mounted by the other units of the Army of Italy. Sérurier, from the reserve position around Ormea, would, it was hoped, divert Colli’s attention by threatening an attack up the Tanaro valley toward Ceva, while the 6,800 men of Generals Macquart and Gamier made a demonstration toward Cuneo through the Col di Tenda. Away on the Mediterranean flank, part of General La Harpe’s division was to probe toward Sassello, linking the main body with the extreme right, where Brigadier Cervoni was to continue to operate in the vicinity of Voltri as if presaging a drive on Genoa. This whole series of operations was to commence on 15 th April.

In the event, however, force of circumstances compelled Bonaparte to open the campaign four days ahead of schedule. Against all expectations, Austrian troops suddenly launched an attack against Voltri. The original advance of Cervoni’s brigade had been carried out on the order of General Schérer, immediately prior to his handing over the command with a view to forcing the Genoese into granting sizeable loans, but news of this maneuver had galvanized Beaulieu into action. The Aulic Council had provided the Austrian commander in chief with only the vaguest orders for the conduct of the campaign, but in general terms he was to drive the French back into Provence. The exposed position of Cervoni’s brigade appeared to offer a fair opening for the campaign: two columns were ordered to advance down the Bochetta Pass and the Turchino valley to envelop and destroy the French at Voltri, while General Argenteau was to swoop on Savona from the hills to cut off La Harpe and Massena. After completing Cervoni’s destruction, and leaving an adequate cavalry force to protect Genoa, Beaulieu’s forces were to fall back on Alessandria, switch to the valley of the Bormida, and advance once more in support of Colli and Argenteau for the coup de grâce. In accordance with these instructions a large Austrian force suddenly descended on the Voltri position on April 10, taking Bonaparte completely by surprise. Cervoni, however, executed a masterly retreat in the face of vastly superior numbers, while on his flank Colonel Rampon held off elements of Argenteau’s troops, and so the French general ordered his subordinates to carry out their original instructions and take the offensive despite the fact that many administrative preparations were still incomplete. Fortunately for the French, two circumstances acted in their favor. Beaulieu’s attack on Voltri revealed the position of the Austrian commander in chief and reassured Bonaparte that he would still have time to settle with Colli before the Austrian main body could be transferred from the coast to Piedmont’s assistance; secondly Argenteau received his orders a day late, which meant that he was unable to mount the drive toward Savona until after the completion of an initial concentration on the 11th. Before these Austrian troops could advance on their objective, General La Harpe’s troops inflicted a sharp check on them. Thus the Austrian offensive got off to a confused start, and the French were still in a position to seize the initiative.
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General Bonaparte’s attack on Piedmont; April 1796, demonstrating the prototype of the Maneuver of the Central Position



Ignoring Beaulieu completely for the time being, Bonaparte moved fast to secure an initial victory over Argenteau which would leave the French free to deal with the Piedmontese army, as originally planned. Early on 12th April, 9,000 French troops attacked Argenteau’s 6,000 Austrians at Montenotte. General La Harpe mounted a frontal attack on the position while Massena, at the head of Menard’s brigade, worked round the Austrian right flank. In due course Argenteau realized his peril and ordered his men to retreat, but it was too late; Massena’s troops charged and routed the Austrian lines, and by dawn the next day Argenteau had only 700 men under direct command, leaving him with no option but to fall back to reorganize his scattered men. In the meantime captured Austrian muskets were being used to arm the thousand men of Augereau’s division who had been forced to advance without firearms.

The successful conclusion of Bonaparte’s first battle as commander in chief provides a convenient juncture for an outline of the tactics currently employed by the Revolutionary Armies. By 1796 these had become fairly stereotyped and effective, but to appreciate them fully it is necessary to glance back at the chaotic early days of the War of the First Coalition when crude volunteer and fédéré armies—with a stiffening of regular troops inherited from the ancien régime—faced the military might of the European monarchies. From the confusion of the earlier engagements there slowly developed a system of battlefield methods which, in the fullness of time, would underlie the military achievements of Europe’s greatest soldier.

Officially, the French armies of 1791 were supposed to follow the regulations, drills and disciplines laid down in the famous Drill-Book issued in that year. This work, produced during the decade preceding the Revolution, enjoined the adoption of a combination of linear and columnar tactics—according to the requirements of the particular mission, the nature of the ground to be fought over, and the characteristics of the opponents. The norm was declared to be the volley delivered in three-deep lines, but the use of columns of attack for the final approach was also advised. In practice, however, the combination of these evolutions proved beyond the capacity of the raw Republican armies. The first volunteer formations that attempted to follow the printed word found the tactical subtleties wholly beyond the capacities of their training and experience. The evolutions needed to bring a column of troops into line ready for fire action were necessarily complex—as were the maneuvers required when the line was subsequently ordered to advance or retire under fire. The predictable result was complete chaos followed by, as often as not, a mass flight to the rear out of range of howling shot and whistling musket balls. The early revolutionary armies possessed neither the discipline nor the training required to carry out drill evolutions with clockwork precision within eighty yards of the enemy. Even the famed élan and courage of the new armies (often overexaggerated by contemporary propagandists) proved a two-edged weapon. On the one hand it could lead to ill-considered attacks resulting in heavy casualties all to little purpose; on the other, a sudden reverse could cause an equally violent reaction—the troops’ bravery and dash being transformed in an instant into fear and flight.

After a series of heavy reverses in 1792, the French military pundits gradually came to recognize the limitations of their military material and advised the adoption of what may be termed “horde tactics.” It now became the invariable practice to send the most reliable men forward in a cloud of skirmishers (whose nuisance value had been learned by General Lafayette and his French volunteers during the War of American Independence), while behind the screen thus formed the less-trusted mass of the battalions huddled together making up their minds whether to fight or flee. Then, after the cannon and skirmishers had wrought their preliminary havoc upon the enemy lines, all being well, the French columns would surge forward in a series of wild rushes, brandishing swords and bayonets, and on many occasions the astounded enemy would retire discomfited. The noteworthy contemporary soldier General Foy has left the following description of a typical engagement in the revolutionary period, which—even if it paints rather a romanticized picture—is worth citing in full:

The action was opened by a cloud of sharpshooters, some mounted, some on foot, who were sent forward to carry out a general rather than a minutely-regulated mission; they proceeded to harass the enemy, escaping from his superior numbers by their mobility, from the effect of his cannon by their dispersal. They were constantly relieved to ensure that the fire did not slacken, and they also received considerable reinforcement to increase their over-all effect.

It was rare for an army to have placed its flanks in impregnable positions; in any case every position presents natural or contrived loopholes which favour an attacker. On such points the sharpshooters would concentrate their efforts, and élan and inspiration were rarely lacking at such times amongst such troops. Once the chink in the foe’s armour had been revealed, it became the focal point for the main effort. The horse artillery would gallop up and open fire with canister at close range. The attacking force would meantime be moving up in the indicated direction, the infantry advancing in column (for it had little fire to offer), the cavalry in regiments or squadrons, ready to make its presence felt anywhere or everywhere as required. Then, when the hail of enemy bullets or cannon balls began to slacken, an officer, common soldier, or, as often as not, a Representative of the People, would start to chant the “Hymn of Victory.” The general would place his hat with its large tricolor cockade on the point of his sword so that it could be seen from afar and serve as a rallying point for the gallant troops. The soldiers would begin to run forwards, those in the front ranks crossing their bayonets, as the drums beat the charge; the sky would ring to a thousand battle-cries constantly repeated: “En avant! En avant! Vive la République!”

The combination of clouds of skirmishers with such charges in battalion columns was certainly well suited to the temperament and characteristics of the early revolutionary armies. It called for comparatively little precision on the part of the rank and file, made the utmost use of the drive and ardor of the citizen-soldiery, and often overwhelmed their better drilled but less-inspired opponents by sheer brute force. The armies of eighteenth-century Europe—soaked in the intricacies and formalities of Frederickan warfare—were frequently left astounded and helpless by the crude tactics of this “new” type of struggle.

With the passage of time, however, the tough French armies became more experienced, and it became feasible to return to more subtle tactics combining infantry fire and shock in carefully regulated proportions. It was found, for instance, that the skirmishers and cannon fire did not always cause sufficient casualties to shake the enemy’s cohesion—and that a heavier volume of musketry fire was required. Perhaps the best solution to this problem was the adoption of l’ordre mixteI—a tactical combination of troops in column with troops in line. The famous Amalgame of 1794 greatly facilitated this development, for the regular battalion in each demi-brigade was perfectly capable of moving and firing with reasonable accuracy in linear formation, while the two associated fédérés battalions were best employed in column on each flank.

At first every line battalion was supposed to consist of three companies of 330 men each, but in later years this was raised to nine (and in the end six) companies of between 150 and 200 men apiece. The nine-company line infantry battalion contained eight fusilier and one grenadier (or élite) companies. The light infantry battalions, on the other hand—which were supposed to be able to keep up with trotting cavalry—consisted of six companies, four chasseur and one carabinier (the equivalent to fusiliers and grenadiers), together with one voltigeur company which was habitually used in a skirmishing role. Approximately three companies in each demi-brigade would be employed as the sharpshooter screen whether or not the formation contained a regular light infantry unit. As regards numerical strength, owing to the exigencies of active service it was rare for a light infantry demi-brigade to go into action more than 1,000 strong, or a line infantry demi-brigade to contain as many as 2,500 effectives.

The French cavalry of this period was generally abysmal. This arm suffered most from the exodus of officers. The considerable length of time required to train a good cavalryman was lacking, and shortage of horses also affected its capabilities. On paper a cavalry demi-brigade was divided into four squadrons, each being subdivided into two compagnies (or troops) of 116 cavalrymen apiece. Thus a cavalry demi-brigade officially mustered some 900 sabers, but in fact rarely averaged more than two or three hundred during the Republican period. There were three main categories of cavalry—heavy (for shock action), dragoons (supposedly capable of fighting on horseback or foot in close support of infantry formations) and light (responsible for reconnaissance, screening and pursuit roles). Too many were of lamentably poor caliber. However, great future leaders were in the process of emerging from such unpromising surroundings—Murat, Lasalle, Grouchy and Milhaud. Moreover, great feats of arms had already been achieved—as when a French cavalry division charged across the ice to capture the trapped Dutch fleet in 1794.

By contrast, the artillery of the Revolutionary Armies suffered least of all from the emigration of officers, for many of its leaders were drawn from middle-class rather than aristocratic families. Their weapons—thanks to Gribeauval (and latterly Carnot)—were the best in Europe, and although the artillery trains suffered as much as the cavalry from the prevalent shortage of horsesII and retained the services of unreliable civilian team-drivers until the early 1800s, their battle efficiency remained generally outstanding. The guns were organized into compagnies (or batteries) of eight pieces, and within the battery were divided into pairs. The Revolutionary period was not without marked effects on the missile arm, however. The number of horse artillery batteries was greatly increased, and a new variety—l’artillerie volante (or “galloper-guns”)—was added to the old categories of line and horse artillery.

The military engineers were equally skilled under the Republic as under the ancien régime. Although the century-old principles of Vauban remained the basis of all fortification work (with subsequent improvements suggested by Chasseloup-Laubat, Montelambert and Lazare Carnot), the French sappers were equally adept at building roads or constructing bridges. However, with the vast expansion of the French forces, experienced engineers were generally in short supply, and General Bonaparte found himself with fewer than 2,000 nominal sappers in 1796 when officially the Army of Italy should have possessed an establishment of 3,300 specialists (one company of miners and two battalions of sappers). Extemporization was accordingly the order of the day. There was a particular shortage of pontoon sections and portable boats—deficiencies aggravated by the dearth of draft horses. However, in Andréossy and Marescot the Army of Italy contained two engineers of talent with a near-genius for improvisation.

Ambulance and supply formations were virtually nonexistent; the consequent shortages of medical care and provisions bred a spirit of self-reliance and creature cunning among the troops (although widespread desertion was another consequence)—and made possible the rapid strategic movements that so bewildered their convoy-minded and depot-bound opponents.

All in all, therefore, General Bonaparte inherited a redoubtable weapon, ready to his hand.

General Bonaparte had won his first battle, but there was little time for self-congratulation. Augereau’s advance from Finale had been unexpectedly delayed by bad going, and as a result Massena’s tired men were forced to execute a march up the road to occupy Carcare before the enemy. By midnight, however, the leading units of Augereau’s columns reached the vital crossroads, and headquarters were established in the largest house in the village. The French were now in possession of their central position and the Austrians had been repulsed; so far everything was going according to plan.

As he bent over his maps with Berthier, Bonaparte had to face a new problem. Although Argenteau had been scattered, there was no confirmation that the complete Austrian force had been engaged at Montenotte. Bonaparte had to decide whether to spend the 13th following the discomforted Austrians or whether to pursue his original scheme of advancing on Colli’s isolated Piedmontese. He gambled on the latter course. Massena, with half his division, should hold Dego—and thus block the most likely Austrian approach route—while Augereau’s force, together with the rest of Massena’s, made an advance on Ceva, and Sérurier’s division moved up from Ormea to achieve a concentration of at least 25,000 men against the Piedmontese. To guard against unforeseen eventualities, a central reserve of six battalions was ordered to remain at Carcare in company with all of Stengel’s cavalry.

The events of the 13th proved this precautionary measure to be wise. Nothing went according to plan. In spite of an initial success at Millesimo, Augereau’s advance on Ceva came to a halt before the ruins of Cosseria castle, where a small garrison of 900 grenadiers under the Austrian General Provera, whose unit had originally linked the Austrian and Piedmontese sectors, defied all attempts to dislodge them. Colonel Joubert led the last assault of the day. “Nothing more terrible,” he wrote afterward, “could be imagined than the assault, where I was wounded in passing through a loophole; my carabiniers held me up in the air, with one hand I grasped the top of the wall. I parried the stones with my saber, and my whole body was the target for two entrenchments dominating the position ten paces off.”4 This attempt, in its turn, had to be abandoned, and the French drew back after a day’s fighting that had cost them 900 casualties. Meanwhile, on the other French flank Massena found Dego occupied by what appeared to be a sizeable enemy force. Bonaparte rode over to inspect the situation and ordered Massena to delay his attack until he heard that Cosseria had fallen. As Provera continued to hold out, Massena made no move, and to cap the frustrations of the day a storm of torrential rain made everybody miserable and delayed the arrival of the supply convoys. Thus Bonaparte had lost a valuable twenty-four hours. Determined to redress the situation next day, he ordered Augereau to retain only a single brigade to watch Provera and to send the rest of his troops through the night to join Massena.

The next morning the situation took a turn for the better. A strong force of French troops attacked the village of Dego about midday, and within a short time Massena had taken most of the 5,000 Austrians prisoner together with 19 guns. News also arrived of the long overdue surrender of Cosseria castle, and the way was at last open to attack Colli. Leaving Massena to occupy Dego, Bonaparte retraced his steps to the west with La Harpe, hoping to meet Sérurier’s division near the town of Ceva.

All was not yet well, however, on the exposed French right flank. Exhilarated by the morning’s success, Massena’s men typically scattered in search of food and plunder, and in this unfortunate situation were surprised by five Austrian battalions under General Wukassovitch in the early hours of the next morning. The unexpected arrival of this force was completely fortuitous; Wukassovitch had received an order from Beaulieu dated the 14th, ordering him to move on Dego “tomorrow”; the letter had in fact been dictated late on the 13th, and it was the commander in chief’s intention that Wukassovitch should intervene in the following day’s battle, but the error in the dating accounted for his subordinate’s appearance at Dego on the 15th. In any case, the effect was catastrophic for the French troops in the vicinity. By one account—probably malicious—Massena himself had a narrow escape from the bed of an amoureuse, being forced to flee in his nightshirt, but it is certain that his men were routed, losing all their guns. Wukassovitch intelligently seized the opportunity offered by this success and promptly put the village into a state of defense.
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Austrian Generals Würmser (left) and Alvintzi (right), two of General Bonaparte’s main adversaries in the 1796–1797 campaign in northern Italy



This setback forced Bonaparte to cancel his advance on Ceva once more. Wukassovitch might well be the advance guard of a larger Austrian force, and the French general dared not ignore so dire a threat to his flank. Yet again, the cursing troops of La Harpe and the reserve were hurried back to Dego to restorm the village, and in due course this was accomplished for the loss of a further 1,000 French casualties. Thus, although on the other flank Sérurier and Augereau succeeded in driving Colli back from Monte Zemolo into the fortified position of Ceva, Bonaparte had lost a second day, and every hour that passed increased the likelihood of Beaulieu’s intervention in the battle. The French troops, moreover, were getting hungrier and less disciplined—as the Dego incident illustrated all too clearly—and if it was to survive the army would have to break out of the hills into the plains in the near future.

The possibility of a large Austrian force falling on his right flank and severing his communications with Savona continued to preoccupy Bonaparte’s attention throughout the 16th, and the day was largely spent regrouping the army and sending out patrols to probe the Austrian intentions. In fact the peril was more imagined than real. After suffering three sharp reverses and losing the equivalent of ten battalions of men, Beaulieu hesitated in the vicinity of Acqui, anticipating a French attack on the place. By the evening therefore, Bonaparte was reassured about the safety of his flank and could turn his attention to Ceva, where Augereau’s troops had attempted a premature assault on Colli’s position but had been repulsed with considerable loss. Leaving La Harpe’s men to garrison Dego, Bonaparte moved Massena to Mombarcaro where he would be able to fall on Beaulieu’s flank and rear in the event of an Austrian attack on Dego, and the same day transferred his headquarters from Carcare to Millesimo. By this time Augereau and Sérurier had massed 24,000 at Ceva to attack Colli’s 13,000 Piedmontese and were preparing an assault for the morning of the 18th, but during the preceding night the enemy beat a skilful retreat to a yet stronger position in the angle formed by the confluence of the Rivers Tanaro and Corsaglia.

A furious General Bonaparte urged his troops forward in pursuit, ordering Sérurier to assault the new position frontally while Augereau advanced down the east bank of the Tanaro to outflank the Piedmontese. This operation, however, proved a failure; Augereau’s men were unable to find a crossing over the Tanaro to support Sérurier’s attack, and the latter was repulsed. On the 19th the attempt was renewed, but once again confusion and indiscipline resulted in failure; Sérurier’s division threw away an initial advantage by scattering in search of loot. Bonaparte thereupon called a halt in operations for two days to complete preparations for a three divisional assault and to give his artillery time to come up.

The first major step was a change in the army’s lines of communications. Hitherto these had run up the exposed Cadibona Pass from Savona; from April 19 a new system was opened up the Tanaro valley to Ormea. This change made it possible to weaken the forces holding the right flank—Dego was now strategically unimportant—and La Harpe was ordered to leave only one brigade at Cairo and march the remainder of his division to relieve Massena at San Benedetto; Massena, in his turn, was moved up to take a central position between the divisions of Sérurier and Augereau in preparation for the renewal of the attack on the village of St. Michele, the key to Colli’s position. The grand assault was ordered for the morning of the 21st.

Once again, however, General Colli decamped during the night and fell back on Mondovi. Stengel immediately launched a vigorous cavalry pursuit but was mortally wounded during one skirmish, thus depriving the Army of Italy of its most experienced cavalry officer. Nevertheless, Colli was afforded no time to organize the town’s defense. Old Sérurier confounded all the experts by leading a frontal attack against the Piedmontese. In later years, Marmont described the incident as follows: “To form his men in three columns, put himself at the head of the central one, throw out a cloud of skirmishers, and march at the double, sword in hand, ten paces in front of his column; that is what he did. A fine spectacle, that of an old general, resolute and decided, whose vigor was revived by the presence of the enemy. I accompanied him in the attack, the success of which was complete.”5

By a mixture of force and guile the French bundled the enemy out of the town and took possession of the well-stocked arsenal. It was a turning point of the campaign; with the capture of Mondovi, Bonaparte had reached the fertile plains of Piedmont, and his pressing administrative anxieties were considerably lessened. Imminent starvation no longer threatened the army and, although the men at once proceeded to get out of hand and indulged in an orgy of pillage and destruction that lasted a complete day, Bonaparte had good reason for relief and self-congratulation.

Bonaparte did not linger at Mondovi a moment longer than was necessary to reorganize his army. Colli’s force was still technically undefeated, and Piedmont had yet to be forced to sue for peace. Therefore the advance on Turin was commenced on April 23. Massena and Augereau moved forward astride the River Tanaro, their flanks protected by Sérurier and La Harpe, each part of the army being within a day’s march of the rest and so in a position to concentrate against any threatened point. In fact, however, the Piedmontese will to resist was broken after the loss of Mondovi, and on the evening of the 23rd Colli asked for an armistice. Bonaparte’s reaction to this was to push forward even faster. Two days later, Massena was in occupation of Cherasco and Augereau was in Alba. These moves completed the separation of the Piedmontese forces from any communication with Beaulieu. Following up this success, Bonaparte once more shifted his lines of communication—this time from the Tanaro valley to the sheltered Col di Tende—and ordered La Harpe to advance on Acqui to engage Beaulieu’s full attention.

By this time the Court of Turin was in a fever of apprehension, and the young French prodigy was in a position to dictate terms. He made it clear that he was not empowered by the Directory to conduct formal negotiations, but declared himself willing to enter into a temporary arrangement until Paris was consulted. The River Stura was to form the line of demarcation between the two armies; in addition to Ceva, the fortresses of Cuneo and Tortona were to receive French garrisons, but if the latter was still in Austrian hands, Alessandria would be handed over in its place. A further clause gave the French the right of free passage through Piedmontese territory and permission to cross the River Po at Valenza should the general so desire. Such were the provisional terms embodied in the Armistice of Cherasco, which the King of Savoy—deserted by his Austrian ally, now in full retreat for the River Agogno—formally approved on 28th April. The question of a full treaty was referred at once to Paris, Colonel Murat being sent to the Directory with the details of the armistice terms.

In a ten-day campaign, General Bonaparte had brought the state of Piedmont to its knees and thus secured, for the time being at least, the flank and rear of the Army of Italy which could now turn to smite its principal opponent—the Austrian army in the Po valley. Much of the future still hung in doubt; Bonaparte was aware that the Directory might renounce his terms and refuse to conclude a satisfactory peace with Piedmont, especially as he had deliberately flouted their original instructions in respect of Piedmontese territory and interests. In this eventuality the Army of Italy’s communications might again be dangerously exposed, but Bonaparte’s shrewd appraisal of his masters’ foibles and weaknesses convinced him that they would accept the situation with a good grace. He had brought victory to French arms, and no politician would dare to throw away his achievement; besides, the general had been prudent enough to send the Directors material proof in the form of booty, and his fellow Corsican, Saliceti, the senior representative of the French Government accompanying the army in the field, had long ago thrown in his lot with his young general and could be relied upon to report back favorably.

By sheer determination and offensive action, by repeated concentrations of force at critical places and times, by cunning economy, tight security and brilliant control of every move made by each component of his army, Napoleon Bonaparte had accomplished his preliminary task. At a cost of 6,000 casualties he had burst into the Po valley, taking the protecting Alps by the flank. “Annibal a forcé les Alpes” he exclaimed, “nous, nous les avons tournés!” In the process he had run enormous risks, and minor setbacks such as those at Cosseria and Dego might well have presaged disaster had his opponent been a soldier of greater determination and audacity. General Schérer’s earlier unwillingness to launch an offensive can more easily be understood in the light of the perils his more brilliant successor was called upon to meet, but an inflexible will and complete understanding of the problems of time and space had overcome every obstacle. A flamboyant manifesto summarized the achievement: “Soldiers! In fifteen days you have gained six victories, taken 21 colors and 55 pieces of artillery, seized several fortresses and conquered the richest parts of Piedmont. You have captured 15,000 prisoners and killed and wounded more than 10,000. . . .”6 The promises of March 27 had been fulfilled indeed; this, however, was only the beginning.



I. See Part Six, p. 346, for a description of this formation.

II. Therefore only 60 guns and a few mountain pieces could accompany Bonaparte’s advance. The lack of heavy pieces was to be particularly keenly felt before Mantua.
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THE BRIDGE OF LODI

The French army now paused for a brief spell to reorganize in preparation for the offensive against Beaulieu. During this lull, Bonaparte summoned the troops of Generals Macquart and Gamier from the Col di Tende and sent an eloquent plea to the Directory for further reinforcements, indicating that 10,000 men from Kellermann’s Army of the Alps would serve very well in this capacity. There was need, however, to act swiftly, for although the French lines of communication could in no way be considered secure until a formal peace was ratified with Piedmont, the Austrians might still be able to recover from their initial setbacks and launch a counteroffensive if they were afforded sufficient time. In fact, this was not very likely; Beaulieu had already pessimistically reported to Vienna that “the army is in a very bad situation,” and his half-hearted attempts to succour Colli illustrated his caution and indecision. The loss to date of between five and six thousand Austrian troops out of his army of 30,000 in no way encouraged the old man to run any further risks, and his one thought was to withdraw his men to the comparative safety of the Po’s north bank with its series of good defensive positions offered by the tributaries and fortresses.

This withdrawal Bonaparte was determined to forestall if it lay in his power. Writing to Carnot, he declared: “My intention is to catch up with the Austrians and beat them before you have time to reply to this letter.” To achieve this, as we have already seen, he had ordered La Harpe on April 28 to advance on Acqui, but that officer was forced to postpone his march by a mutiny among his starving men who had not shared in the looting of Mondovi, having been on the extreme flank of the French army. In consequence of this delay, La Harpe reached his destination only on the 30th, and by that date Beaulieu’s evacuation was well under way; Alessandria had been abandoned on the 28th, and two days later most of his men were safely over the Po, crossing at Valenza in spite of Piedmontese protests. Thwarted of his prey, Bonaparte next ordered the army to concentrate in the area bounded by the towns of Tortona, Alessandria and Valenza. By this time the army’s strength had risen to 39,600 men, and the new lines of communication with the Col di Tende were in full operation.

The problem was now to devise a means of crossing the Po in the face of Beaulieu’s army and thereafter force him to fight a battle. The difficulties of a river crossing were increased by the absence of a proper bridging train in the French army, but the Austrian commander in chief’s decision to station his army around the town of Valeggio on Piedmontese soil instead of retiring to the far stronger position offered by the River Ticino farther to the east was a considerable if short-lived advantage. Bonaparte could select one of three possible crossing places over the fast-flowing Po. Of these, Valenza was the closest, and the right to a free passage had been guaranteed by the Piedmontese at Cherasco. But the disadvantage was the proximity of the main Austrian forces, and not even the Army of Italy could contemplate the possibility of being caught halfway over the river with equanimity. The second possibility was to pass the river south of Pavia; such a crossing would place the French in rear of Beaulieu athwart his communications, but again the area was just within Austrian striking distance, and this could well prove disastrous. The third conceivable crossing was no less than fifty miles from Valenza at Piacenza. Despite the distance and the great width and depth of the River Po at that point Bonaparte selected it, for it offered several distinct advantages, and the French general was confident that his men would be able to march fast enough to outwit their foes. Writing to the Directory on May 6 after beginning the complex operation, he indicated his reasons. “Yesterday morning we cannonaded the foe posted on the farther bank of the Po. This river is very large and difficult to pass over. My intention is to cross it as close as possible to Milan, so as to be faced by no further obstacles before I reach that capital. By so doing, I shall turn the three lines of defense that Beaulieu has prepared along the Agogno, the Terdoppio and the Ticino. So today I march toward Piacenza; Pavia will find itself turned, and if the enemy determines to defend that town, I will find myself between him and his depots.”7 Success would depend on the old formula of speed and surprise, but the risks were worthwhile. At the least his move would compel Beaulieu to retreat precipitately; at the best, he might even destroy the enemy entirely.

The essence of Bonaparte’s plan was to distract Beaulieu’s attention for the vital period it would take a select force to make the march to Piacenza and establish a bridgehead on the north bank of the Po. The first duty was entrusted to Massena and Sérurier, who were to mount diversionary operations appearing to presage a major crossing at Valenza; the second task was given to a special corps d’élite drawn from the grenadier units of the whole army and led by General Dallemagne. Four battalions of this force were entrusted to the dashing Colonel Lannes, and in all, Dallemagne’s command totaled 3,600 grenadiers and 2,500 cavalry. He was to be supported in the first instance by the divisions of La Harpe and Augereau, who were to follow hard on his heels, and in due course the remainder of the army would similarly march eastwards.
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The Maneuver of Lodi, May 1796, the prototype of la manoeuvre sur les derrières (or strategical envelopment)



The preliminary moves were completed on May 5 and 6. At four in the morning on the following day Dallemagne left Stradella, and by dint of magnificent marching reached Piacenza by nine o’clock. The troops seized a large ferry and at once began to cross, the first man to set foot on the north bank being Colonel Lannes. By the middle of the afternoon the advance guard had been reinforced by La Harpe’s division, which was perhaps just as well, for Dallemagne suddenly found he was faced by the Austrian General Liptay with a division of infantry and several squadrons of cavalry. The enemy reaction had come earlier than had been anticipated. As early as May 4, Beaulieu had sent Liptay to occupy the bridges near Pavia and to keep an eye on the crossings further to the east. During the succeeding forty-eight hours, the Austrian commander in chief’s attention had been held by Sérurier’s diversion near Valenza, but as no serious attempt at a crossing was made Beaulieu took the wise decision to retire the bulk of his forces behind the River Ticino. In the midst of this maneuver Beaulieu received definite news of the French crossing in force near Piacenza, and at once changed his plans and marched with all speed to support Liptay, calling up General Wukassovitch’s 4,500 men from Valeggio. Thus by dark on the 7th, a long column of Austrian troops, spread over a distance of some fifty miles, was converging on the French bridgehead.

During the day, Dallemagne had clashed inconclusively with the advanced elements of Liptay’s troops and the Austrian patrols fell back to the village of Fombio. Next morning La Harpe and Dallemagne stormed the position and scattered Liptay’s force. The French pursued the fugitives with great élan. Saliceti recorded: “for two hours Lannes and his grenadiers pursued the Austrians, marching alongside our Hussars who went on at a full trot.”8 In the meantime Augereau’s division was crossing the Po at Varetto, some way to the west of Piacenza, and Sérurier and Massena were drawing steadily closer. During the night, however, the head of Beaulieu’s converging columns came into violent conflict with the French troops at Codogno, and in the general confusion of a night action La Harpe was tragically shot by his own men. Deprived of firm leadership, the French troops began to waver, but the situation was saved by the chief of staff, Berthier, who rode forward with other senior officers to take personal control of the battle. In due course the Austrians pulled back, leaving one cannon and sixty prisoners in French hands. This brush proved too much for Beaulieu’s determination, and, despite his current superiority of numbers, he ordered a full retreat toward Lodi on the River Adda, anxious to place a river obstacle between himself and the French. This allowed Bonaparte to complete the concentration of the Army of Italy unhindered, and during the 9th the last units of Massena’s and Sérurier’s divisions passed over the Po after a sixty-mile march to join their comrades-in-arms. This river crossing in the proximity of a large enemy army has deservedly become regarded as a classic operation of war, its success being based on precise planning, careful deception and, above all, speed of marching. Bonaparte was not, however, completely satisfied with his achievement. Beaulieu had managed to escape the net before his lines of communication had been severed, and although the fall of Milan was now a certainty, the enemy army had still to be defeated before he could be reinforced if the remainder of the Po valley, and above all the city and fortress of Mantua, were to pass into French hands.
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Hounded on by their near-distraught commander, the leading French troops were within sight of Lodi by the early morning of May 10, but practically the whole Austrian army had meanwhile safely crossed the Adda, leaving 10,000 men under General Sebottendorf as a covering force. Three battalions of these troops, supported by a dozen cannon, were drawn up in positions dominating the bridge of Lodi and the causeway leading up to it. Six of these guns were placed upon the eastern end of the bridge itself, and two further artillery detachments of three cannon apiece were situated on each side of the roadway in a position to sweep it with enfilade fire. The capture of the bridge was clearly going to present a considerable problem to the pursuing French.
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The advance guard of the Army of Italy soon cleared the town of Lodi of the last detachments of Austrian troops, and Bonaparte rode right forward with his staff to supervise personally the capture of the bridge beyond. While he waited for Massena’s dust-stained column to reach the town, the general busied himself siting twenty-four guns along the west bank and sent cavalry detachments up and down the river to search for a ford which might enable the French to outflank the enemy position. He formed the grenadiers into column within the shelter of the walls of Lodi, and after addressing them with a stirring speech, launched them through the gates onto the causeway. The first charge, facing a storm of Austrian shot, reached the center of the bridge before losing its impetus and falling back. The effort was immediately renewed, many senior officers, including Massena, Dallemagne, Cervoni and Berthier placing themselves at the head of the column, and with a cry of Vive la République! the men swarmed forward again into the maelstrom.

This time the outcome was successful. Numbers of troops jumped from the causeway into the shallows near the farther bank and opened an enfilading fire on the Austrian gunners, and under this cover, the head of the column stormed the bridge and drove off the Austrian defenders. A counterattack almost regained the bridge for Sebottendorf, but the arrival of Massena’s men, followed by Augereau, soon clinched the issue, breaking through the center of the extended Austrian line, while a body of cavalry under Ordener at last appeared on the enemy’s flank, having found a ford. Sebottendorf hastened to extricate his men and retreated toward Beaulieu’s main body, leaving behind him 153 killed, 1,700 prisoners and sixteen guns. The French lost at least 350 casualties in the affair.

In sober fact, of course, the result was another disappointment for Bonaparte, for once again Beaulieu had evaded his clutches and made good his escape, but the spirit and courage shown by the officers and men of the Army of Italy during this bitter struggle have earned “The Bridge of Lodi” a special place in the mystique of the French army. It was at Lodi that Bonaparte finally earned the confidence and loyalty of his men, who nicknamed him thereafter “Le Petit Caporal” in recognition of his personal courage, determination and example. The event was also significant in crystallizing Napoleon’s ambition. “It was only on the evening of Lodi,” he recorded a long time later, “that I believed myself a superior man, and that the ambition came to me of executing the great things which so far had been occupying my thoughts only as a fantastic dream.”9 On another occasion, at St. Helena, he wrote: “Then was struck the first spark of high ambition,” and a few days after the Battle of Lodi he confided to Marmont, “They [the Directory] have seen nothing yet. . . . In our days no one has conceived anything great; it is for me to set the example.”10

That very evening, however, a dispatch from Paris reached headquarters, and its contents were anything but pleasing to General Bonaparte. Anxious to secure as much loot as possible to prop the staggering French economy, the Directors indicated that they intended to split the command of the Army of Italy between Bonaparte and Kellermann, sending the former to terrorize the Pope—the most implacable ideological foe of the Revolution and its principles—while the latter held the Po valley. No doubt one motive behind this idea was jealousy of the young general’s success—he was to be cut down to size—but both personally and militarily the plan was anathema to him. His reaction was prompt and to the point. “Kellermann will command the army as well as I,” he wrote, “for no one is more convinced than I am that the victories are due to the courage and audacity of the men; but I believe that to unite Kellermann and myself in Italy is to lose all. I cannot serve willingly with a man who believes himself to be the first general in Europe; and, besides, I believe that one bad general is better than two good ones. War, like government, is a matter of tact.”11 The young commander clearly already grasped the great principle he later enunciated at St. Helena: “Unity of command is the most important thing in war.” To divide an army still faced by an undefeated foe, likely to receive large reinforcements in the near future, was clearly to court destruction. But on the other hand, to write in this vein to the Directory was to run the risk of dismissal. However, the Corsican had made a neat calculation of the odds; his masters would never dare to disgrace the man who, alone of all their generals, was currently bringing victory to French arms, and he cynically drove home the point by despatching a further large convoy of plunder to the Directory. They soon climbed down. “Immortal glory to the conqueror of Lodi,” they wrote on 21st May, “your plan is the only one to follow. . . . the Directory has carefully considered and decided in favor of the affirmative.”12 His military achievements were already well on the way to securing Bonaparte a degree of political independence, and he made the most of his advantage to bleed Kellermann’s army of 10,000 reinforcements for the Army of Italy. The “Hero of Valmy” gave way with a good grace and even sent his son to serve on the prodigy’s staff.

Five days after the Battle of Lodi, and one month and two days since the opening of the campaign, Bonaparte entered Milan to a hero’s welcome. Massena had occupied the city without opposition two days earlier, as Beaulieu had drawn off toward Mantua, leaving only a small garrison in command of the castello. The wealthy citizens hailed the French as deliverers from the Austrian yoke, and although this popular acclaim was destined to be short-lived, it afforded the French time to reorganize and rest. The general did everything in his power to identify himself and his army with the incipient cause of Italian nationalism, but in this he was not very successful. The official depredations of the French commissaries led by the rapacious Saliceti, and the bare-faced looting indulged in by every soldier up to the rank of divisional commander, soon exhausted the fund of Milanese goodwill, and relations rapidly became strained. Two million livres were exacted from the citizens, and further large sums from the Dukes of Parma and Modena in the form of compulsory contributions. These funds provided the general with the means of paying off as much as half the pay arrears of the army in hard cash—a unique event in the annals of the Army of Italy and a welcome change from the practically worthless assignats of the French Government. “When I saw 60 francs, I thought myself rich,”13 reminisced one officer. “It was the first time since 1793 that we received cash,” stated a Captain Roguet of the 32nd infantry. Bonaparte took what steps he could to limit the looting, but as his generals were blatantly making fortunes and convoys of art treasures and other valuables set out on the road for Paris nearly every week, it was practically impossible to convince the soldiery of the error of their ways. This brief and unusual period of leisure came abruptly to an end on May 21, when a new dispatch from Paris brought the welcome news of a confirmed peace with Piedmont.

His communications with France at last secured, Bonaparte lost no time in issuing marching orders. Leaving a force of 5,000 men to besiege the citadel, which continued to hold out, the 30,000 men of the main army left Milan on the 22nd to seek Beaulieu once more. The Austrian general, with 28,000 men under command, was now occupying a strong position behind the River Mincio, his flanks comfortably protected by the waters of Lake Garda to the North and the Po to the South. Once again, however, Beaulieu had fallen into the error of trying to guard all possible crossings over the Mincio, and in consequence his over-extended army was without a reserve. Bonaparte was confident of his ability to break through the Austrian center at Borghetto, aided by a feint toward Peschiera, which would appear to threaten the enemy’s communications with the Tyrol, always a sensitive area, and thus drive the enemy away from Mantua.

However, before his men could come to grips with Beaulieu, disturbing tidings reached headquarters from both Milan and Pavia. Emboldened by the departure of the main French army, the citizens of both towns had revolted, and the French garrison of Pavia had actually surrendered the citadel. Within two days Bonaparte was back in Milan at the head of 1,500 picked troops under Lannes, Marmont and Murat, but there he found General Despinois in firm control of the local situation. Pressing on to Pavia, the troops stormed the gates and were permitted to sack the town without restraint for several hours. Many innocent townsfolk died in the process, but Bonaparte was determined to teach the whole of North Italy a lesson it would not forget in a hurry. At the same time, he ordered the execution of the hapless French officer who had surrendered the citadel. In similar vein, Lannes meted out rough justice to the village of Binasco, burning the houses and shooting all the men.

In the meantime, the main campaign continued under Berthier’s direction as the divisions moved steadily on the Mincio, but by the 28th Bonaparte was back with the army at Brescia and preparing to move onto Venetian soil. The next act of the campaign was thus enacted by the two armies on neutral territory.

Two days later the bridge at Borghetto was successfully stormed by the grenadiers, and Beaulieu’s scattered forces had no alternative but to fall back once again over the Adige. During the last stages of this operation, a revealing if small incident took place which illustrates the outdated tactical concepts of the Austrian army. Colonel Thomas Graham of the 90th Foot, attached as a British observer to the Austrian staff for the whole campaign, recorded it as follows: “Some French sharpshooters, concealed by the bushes at the edge of the river . . . kept up a very constant and annoying fire on the fine regiment of Kehl (three battalions) . . . which were very absurdly drawn up on the top of a dyke forming the great road on the left bank of the river, occasionally making discharges to drive away their invisible enemies. By stepping back six or eight yards, and lying down on the reverse bank of the dyke, not a shot from the enemy could have told; whereas a loss of nearly 150 men killed and wounded was the consequence of this stupid bravado; as if the honor of such a regiment under such circumstances could be affected by the men being placed in a position of security.”14 During the ensuing days the French had it much their own way.

However, the period was not without its excitements; at one moment on 1st June, Bonaparte was almost captured by the scouts of Sebettondorf’s division who surprised him in the village of Vallegio;I the general had to escape over several garden walls wearing only one boot before he found safety. This experience persuaded Bonaparte to strengthen his personal escort, and led to the formation of the Guides, a special unit of veterans whose chief duty was to protect the person of the commander in chief; in due course this escort, at first a couple of hundred strong commanded by Captain Bessières, was to form the nucleus for the famous Régiment des Chasseurs-à-Cheval of the Imperial Guard.

The French exploited their success at Borghetto with skilful rapidity, Augereau advancing on Peschiera, and Sérurier on Castel Nuovo, and thence toward Mantua, while Massena seized Verona. These operations compelled Beaulieu to retreat up the shores of Lake Garda with the bulk of his army to protect his communications, but a detachment of 4,500 men, cut off from the main body, were in due course driven into the fortress of Mantua, now isolated. Dispersal of effort had once more caused Austrian defeat, faced as they were by the superior speed of movement and concentration of the Army of Italy. Within the next seven days, the French troops consolidated their control over the vital area controlling the southern approaches to the Alpine Passes, while General Beaulieu fell back through Roveredo to Trent, and the first siege of Mantua was soon under way.

This success marks the conclusion of the second phase of the Italian Campaign. The whole of the Lombard Plain and the area of the Quadrilateral, with the notable exception of Mantua itself, were now under French control, but the victory was by no means complete. The Austrian army had not yet been forced to fight a major battle, and for all Bonaparte’s determination and skill Beaulieu had only lost a series of comparatively minor rear-guard actions. As the historian Adlow described the position: “Beaulieu was not driven out of Lombardy; it would be more appropriate to say that he was frightened out.”15 The French found themselves in a distinctly awkward position; an Austrian attempt to recover Lombardy was certain to materialize in the not so distant future, for the failure of the French Rhine offensive to begin on time meant that considerable enemy reinforcements were already being transferred to the Italian front. Moreover, the French lines of communication were now extended over a great distance; the inhabitants of the Milanese had already demonstrated their hostility to their new masters, and at this moment Tortona, Pozzolo and Arquarta revolted. By no means the least important point was the problem of Mantua itself, a most imposing fortress surrounded by inundations and protected by no less than 316 guns and a garrison of 12,000 men. Bonaparte had somehow to devise a scheme to balance these problems, and this meant that for the first time since the opening of the campaign the Army of Italy would be compelled to go over to the defensive.
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